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 GENOCIDE 
 

The United Nation’s General Assembly Resolution 260A (III) Article 2: 
 
In the present Convention, genocide means any of the following acts committed with intent to 
destroy, in whole or in part, a national, ethnical, racial or religious group, as such: 
 

(a) Killing members of the group; 
(b) Causing serious bodily or mental harm to members of the group; 
(c) Deliberately inflicting on the group conditions of life calculated to bring about 
its physical destruction in whole or in part;  
(d) Imposing measures intended to prevent births within the group; 
(e) Forcibly transferring children of the group to another group 

 
 
"Generally speaking, genocide does not necessarily mean the immediate destruction of a nation, 
except when accomplished by mass killings of all members of a nation. It is intended rather to 
signify a coordinated plan of different actions aiming at the destruction of essential foundations 
of the life of national groups, with the aim of annihilating the groups themselves. The objectives 
of such a plan would be the disintegration of the political and social institutions, of culture, 
language, national feelings, religion, and the economic existence of national groups, and the 
destruction of the personal security, liberty, health, dignity, and even the lives of the individuals 
belonging to such groups."  
 
– Raphael Lemkin, Axis Rule in Occupied Europe (1944) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

SECTION I: 
Pre‐Attack 

“These chemical weapons attacks were not random, irrational atrocities mindlessly inflicted 
during the al‐Anfal campaign, the desperate tactic of an army gone crazy.  Nor were they 
conceived by the Saddam regime as a strategy in and of itself. Rather, chemical weapons were a 
part of an integrated, strategically well‐planned, carefully‐executed counterinsurgency 
campaign.”   

– Kenneth Anderson, “Book Review: A Poisonous Affair: America, Iraq, and the Gassing of Halabja by Joost R. 
Hiltermann” (September 2013) 

The attack on Halabja has been well documented as being the single most brutal attack of the 
Saddam Hussein regime during the closing of the Iran‐Iraq War in the 1980s, as well as the 
deadliest chemical weapons attack against a civilian population in the history of the world.  
 
The documents within this section include secret and top secret memos and telegraphs from 
the interior of the Hussein regime, most of which have been previously untranslated and 
unavailable to the West until now. These documents prove that not only was the use of 
chemical weapons not a spontaneous event, but a deliberate and strategized action discussed 
by the highest levels of the Iraqi government in the years prior to the Halabja attack on March 
16, 1988. These documents also prove that the Halabja attack was not an after‐thought in the 
mind of the regime during the Iran‐Iraq War, but an action of finality designed to annihilate an 
enemy that would not give up, even when that enemy included fellow countrymen.  
 
In particular, this section includes instructive documents from the Revolution Command Council 
and the office of the president (literally translated as the “Presidency of the Republic”) 
declaring that Ali Hassan al‐Majid, otherwise known as “Chemical Ali,” was in charge of the 
military grid that included Halabja. Ali Hassan al‐Majid was infamously caught on tape talking 
about the Kurds to his colleagues in the Arab Socialist Ba’ath Party, saying, “I will kill them all 
with chemical weapons! Who is going to say anything? The international community? Fuck 
them!”1 Ali Hassan al‐Majid was primarily responsible for the oversight and implementation of 
the plans to persecute the Kurds in and around the Halabja region, including the suppression of 
protestors, mass executions of Kurdish civilians, mass deportations, and the destruction of 
entire Kurdish villages.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
                                                            
1 Kenneth Anderson, “Book Review: A Poisonous Affair: America, Iraq, and the Gassing of Halabja by Joost R. 
Hiltermann,” (September 2013) http://www.lawfareblog.com 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

                                                                                 

                General Command of the Armed Forces 

73                      (The Secretariat) 

                  No.: 3/ D/ 2/ 2704 

Class. 1               Date: November 1, 1983  

To/ The Directorate of the Chemical Branch 

Subject/ The Use of Chemical Substances 

Mr. President, the Supreme Commander of the Armed Forces, has ordered the following: 

1‐ The utilization and stockpiling of the current production of chemical substances in order to prepare a 

wide‐range strike when necessary. 

2‐ [That we] exert all possible efforts to reach toxin production in large quantities as quickly as possible, 

in order to use them as a deterring surprise element against the amassing enemy and its main civil 

groupings, provided that [the toxins are] highly destructive.  

Kindly review and take the necessary action.  

                 
 

Staff Brigadier General   
                  Tale'e Khalil Erhayem   
        General Secretary of the General Command of the Armed Forces 
 

A copy to: 

Presidency of the Republic (The Secretary)     

Ministry of Defense Office 

General Directorate of Military Intelligence / Your highly confidential, personal, and urgent memo 

M1/S13/ Class. 1 / 14173 on November 27, 1983. 

(1‐1) 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

42337 
 11/2 

1115 
 11/2 

Saleh Nov. 4 

Kindly review … with respect. 

 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

                                                                                      General Command of the Armed Forces 

73                      (The Secretariat) 

                  No.: 3/ D/ 2/ 2703 

Class. 1               Date: November 1, 1983  

To/ 1st Corps Command 
        2nd Corps Command 
        3rd Corps Command 
       4th Corps Command 

 
Subject/ The Use of Chemical Substances 

Mr. President, the Supreme Commander of the Armed Forces, has ordered [that we] avoid the use of 

chemical substances at the moment. His Excellency has also ordered that it is preferable not to 

[communicate through the] mail, and if necessary, to handwrite [messages] and distribute [them] to 

those whom they concern.  

Kindly review and take the necessary action.  

                 
 
 
 
 
 

Staff Brigadier General   
                Tale'e Khalil Erhayem     
                General Secretary of General Command of the Armed Forces 
A copy to: 

Presidency of the Republic (The Secretary)     

Ministry of Defense Office 

General Directorate of Military Intelligence / Your highly confidential, personal, and urgent memo  

M1/S13/ Class. 1 / 14173 on November 27, 1983 

 

(1‐1) 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

42336 
 2/11 

1114 
 2/11 

Saleh Nov. 4 

Kindly review … with respect. 

 

 



 



 
 

            SECRET AND URGENT               Time of Issuance        Date                   
             ____________________    _____________                 ______ 
                   
                                2150         9/27 
From/ The Directorate of Intelligence for the Eastern Region 
To/ Intelligence (Section 3) 
And/ Intelligence (Section 14) 
 
Issuance number/ Section 3/ Class. 1/ 17366. People in the Halabja region are circulating a rumor about 
the following:  
 
The government will strike the Kurdish villages with chemical weapons after the amnesty period, which 
will conclude on the date of 10/17/87. [Please] kindly review.     
 
(Kareem, September 27) 
 
 
 
 
 
                 
 
 
                  Staff Brigadier General 
                       Director of Military Intelligence, Eastern Region Office 
                        (9/27)    
 
 
            SECRET AND URGENT 
          ____________________ 



 



 

SECTION II: 
The Attack 

 
 

“What is required now is true leaders, not just kindhearted people. This is true of the army, in 
the party, in the union, and in the governmental administration. The role of the leader is to 
enlighten the shaky with (deterrence and guidance) and bring them back to their senses, and 
encourage the brave when they show the proper values in their actions, within the framework 
that should be practiced by everyone.” 
 
– Excerpted from a General Command of the Armed Forces memo on March 19, 19882  

 
Many of the currently available documents concerning the Halabja attack are from the victims’ 
point of view.  Although this eyewitness testimony is extremely important in classifying the 
attack as a genocide, as well as for the purposes of general historical documentation, the 
intention of this section is to reveal the tactics and communications that the Iraqi military had 
interiorly regarding the attack. 
 
The documents included in this section are from within a fourteen day window preceding, 
during, and after the March 16th attack, which include instructions for the use of “special 
ammunition,” approval for the use of that ammunition, suggested targets, information from 
sources, and general commentary on the successes and failures of the wider attack strategy. 
The regime felt that the attack on the Halabja district on the 16th had been an overall success, 
and did not want to cease the attacks in the following days, in order to refrain from giving their 
perceived enemy any “chance to stabilize and catch their breath.”3  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                            
2 Section 2, Item 3 
3 Section 2, Item 5 



 
 

        TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL                                           

A/I/13 

 

 

 

To/ 1st Corps Command 

Subject/ Directions 

In light of the current situation in [the] Halabja‐Khormal area of operation, and to avoid the possibility of isolating 

[our] troops, we recommend the following: 

1‐ [The] units of the 43rd Force's Command that are deployed in the areas of Enab and Zamqi [should] advance 

from their current locations toward Darbandikhan Lake into the area of Toqot.   

2‐ The force [should] begin to advance immediately in a formation of legions of brigades and portions (i.e. front, 

rear, wings, and the major portion). 

3‐ The Zamqi Force (1st Commando Brigade/ the 4th Corps, plus the National Defense Legion/ 8th) [should] remain 

in the rear of the troops with tanks. 

4‐ The force [should] spread out in all directions as soon as it reaches the new location.  

5‐ The edges of the town of Halabja [are] to be bombed, as well as the areas of Kani Kroshan, Wadi Thulum, and 

Khormal during the advancing operation of the force. 

6‐ Guarantee ammunition and sufficient rations for the units in the Ahmed Branda area. 

7‐ Open a headquarters to control the passers‐by and crossing operation; and [to] start [the operation] 

immediately. 

8‐ Crossing operations to the far (eastern) bank, continued by the units of the 28th Division according to our 

previous directions to the Corps Commander, in order to connect with the above‐mentioned force in (item no. 1) 

for which a bridge head is to be established. 

Kindly take the necessary action. 

A copy to 

Secretariat of the General Command of the Armed Forces / To kindly be reviewed with respect. 

(1‐2) 

 TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL  

   Chairmanship of the Chief of Staff of the Army  

                   Army Chief of Staff Office 

    No. / 153 

   Date/ March 16, 1988 

395 
3/18/88 

64 
2

Staff Lieutenant General

  Nizar Abdul‐Karim Faysal 

    Army Chief of Staff 

Reviewed

3/18

Mr. Secretary General

To kindly be reviewed 

Subject considered completed 

Mr. Senior Secretary  

To be kindly reviewed 

Keeping 

 3/19 

3/18 

3/17 

 

 



 



 
 

         

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL                                            

 

 

 

 

[The] Ministry of Defense Office/ To be kindly reviewed. 

Operations Office. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(2‐2) 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

   Chairmanship of the Chief of Staff of the Army  

                   Army Chief of Staff Office 



 



 
 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

    

  ‐ In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful ‐                  Presidency of the Republic 

                                   The Secretary 

                       General Directorate of Military Intelligence  

                         Eastern Region Military Intelligence Office  

                  No./ Section 1/ Class 1/ 424 

                  Date/ 3 / 18 / 1988 

 

To/ The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Headquarters) 

Subject/ Battles of Halabja 

 

Below are our observations about the reasons that led to what happened in [the] Halabja area of 

operation: 

1‐ The full loss of command and control. 

2‐ The weakness of the units assigned for seizing the defensive position, which was limited to force 

protection and guarding battalions (born in 1945), in addition to [the] 443rd Infantry Regiment, which is 

known for its previous standing.  

3‐ An order for withdrawal was issued to the troops at a time when a very large number of forces were 

centralized in [the] Halabja area of operation, and can secure repelling lines around the town of Halabja 

until those [existing] units are freed from the cordon by the formations that arrived immediately to the 

Sayed Sadeq area of operation. 

4‐ The required boats were not provided to transport the withdrawing troops across Darbandikhan Lake, 

which led to catastrophic losses incurred, as the withdrawing force was notified that the boats were 

ready to carry them to the western bank of the lake.  

5‐ Lack of communications and knowledge of the status of our troops which was completely unknown, 

especially given that the 1st Corps had cut all telecommunications with the district of Halabja. 

(1‐3) 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

   927      
3/19/88 

     8           
Political 
Office 4 



 



 
 

 

General Command of the Armed Forces 

 

Sequence  Orders and Instructions 
Number and 

Date 
Execution Follow‐up 

Authority 

1.  [The] required arrangements in (the Anfal area of operation) for 
summer must be thought of starting now, in order to not see the 
saboteurs' existence in the area again. We may need additional or 
alternative troops. 

       177        
____________          
 March 20, 1988 

The Secretariat of G.C.A.F.               
                                                           Staff Col. 
                                              Abed Khalaf 
Muhammad 

 
       

                                          

 
  G.C.A.F. directions on Saturday, March 19, 1988 

Item (1) 
 

The Procedures  
The highly confidential and personal memo from  the Chairmanship of the Chief 
of Staff of the Army 188 on 3/20/1988, addressed to the Operations Office  
Staff Major General Sultan Hashem Ahmed, and Commander of Operation Anfal 
1, and Staff Major General Kamel Sajit, Commander of the 1st Corps, 
which includes information about the aforementioned directions.  

   

       
       
  Done 

3/25 
   

       
       

 

Instructions from the General Command of the Armed Forces for Saturday 
March 19, 1988. 
Reported in our top secret and personal memo     
                       ____177______                                      

                     March 20, 1988 
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General Command of the Armed Forces 

(The Secretariat) 

Sequence  Orders and Instructions  Number and Date  Execution Follow‐up 
Authority 

2.  In the eastern Darbandikhan area and Operation al‐Anfal area … We ought to 
continue to hit the enemy and the saboteurs with fire, artillery and Air Force 
[operations], and giving them no chance to stabilize and catch their breath. It is 
preferable to use the special ammunition by artillery at night, either by surprise 
or by including special ammunition strikes within the regular artillery strikes.  

           177  
____________                 
 March 19, 1988 

The Secretariat of G.C.A.F.               
                                                           Staff Col. 
                                              Abed Khalaf Muhammad 
 

       
       
  G.C.A.F. directions issued on Saturday March 19, 1988: 

 
Item (2) 

 
The procedures  

[The] highly confidential and personal memo from the Chairmanship of the 
Chief of Staff of the Army   188   addressed to the Operations Office on March 
20th to: 
Staff Major General Sultan Hashem Ahmed, Commander of Operation Anfal 1st, 
and  Staff Major General Kamel Sajit Aziz, Commander of 1st Corps, which 
includes taking the aforementioned direction into action. 

   

  Done 
7/31 
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General Command of the Armed Forces 

(The Secretariat) 

Sequence  Orders and Instructions  Number and Date  Execution Follow‐up 
Authority 

3.  Effective beginning tomorrow, everything will be 
approved after the members of the General Command's 
visit to the 1st Corps Command, and after checking the 
required plans.  

       177 
____________                             
 March 19, 1988 

The Secretariat of G.C.A.F.               
                                                           Staff Col. 
                                              Abed Khalaf Muhammad 

 

       
                                          

 
  G.C.A.F. directions on Saturday March 19, 1988 

 
Item (3) 

 
The procedures 

Considered complete; proceed with the directions [given] by the 
Command members. 

  

   

       
       
  7/31     
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General Command of the Armed Forces 

(The Secretariat) 

Sequence  Orders and Instructions 
Number and 

Date 
Execution Follow‐up 

Authority 

4.  [The] most important [instruction] was to draw lessons from this battle in order 
to not fall into the same mistakes again. 

       177  
____________           
 March 19, 1988 

The Secretariat of G.C.A.F.               
                                                           Staff Col. 
                                              Abed Khalaf Muhammad 

 
  G.C.A.F. directions on Saturday, March 19, 1988 

 
Item (4) 

The procedures 
The highly confidential and personal memo from the Chairmanship of the Chief 
of Staff of the Army    188,    addressed to the Operations Office on March 20th. 
Staff Major General Sultan Hashem Ahmed, Commander of Operation Anfal 1 

and Staff Major General Kamel Sajit, Commander of the 1st Corps, which includes 

the information about the execution of the aforementioned directions. 

   
                                          

 

  General directions will be reported to the Commanders of the 1st and 5th Corps.     
  The highly confidential and personal memo from the Chairmanship of the Chief 

of Staff of the Army 188 on 3/20/1988. 
   

  3/25     
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General Command of the Armed Forces 

(The Secretariat) 

Sequence  Orders and Instructions 
Number and 

Date 
Execution Follow‐up 

Authority 

5.  What is required now is true leaders, not just kindhearted people. This is true of 
the army, in the party, in the union, and in the governmental administration. The 
role of the leader is to enlighten the shaky with (deterrence and guidance) and 
bring them back to their senses, and encourage the brave when they show the 
proper values in their acts, within the framework that should be practiced by 
everyone. 
 

       177  
____________           
 March 19, 1988 

The Secretariat of G.C.A.F.               
                                                           Staff Col. 
                                              Abed Khalaf Muhammad 

 

  G.C.A.F. directions on Saturday March 19, 1988 
 

Item (5) 
The procedures 

Highly confidential and personal memo of the Chairmanship of the Chief of Staff 
of the Army    188    addressed to the Operations Office on 20th of March to: 
Staff MG Sultan Hashem Ahmed, Commander of Operation al‐ Anfal, and Staff 
MG Kamel Sajit, Commander of the 1st Corps, which includes the informing and 
the execution of the aforementioned direction. 

   
                                          

 

   
General direction 

   

  3/27     
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Sequence  Subject  Date  Number Authority 
Procedures 

Notified Officer 

1.  The required arrangements in 
(the Anfal area of operation) for 
the summer must be thought of 
beginning now, in order to avoid 
seeing the saboteurs' existence 
in the area again. We may need 
additional or alternative troops. 
 
G.C.A.F. direction s for March 19, 
1988 
 

Item (1) 
 

March 20, 
1988 

177  The Secretariat of 
G.C.A.F. 

 
 
1‐ The highly confidential and personal memo   
from the Chairmanship of the Chief of Staff of 
the Army addressed to/ the Operations Office 
Staff Major General Sultan Hashem Ahmed ‐ 
Commander of Operation Anfal 1, and 
Staff Major General Kamel Sajit ‐ Commander 
of the 1st Corps, which includes information 
about the aforementioned directions. 

                                                
Staff Colonel 
Abed Khalaf Muhammad 
 
 
 
 
 
March 26, 1988 
 
Subject considered 
completed by execution 
of the directions and 
reporting to the 
Chairmanship of the 
Chief of Staff of the Army 
memo      188   _  
             March 20th     
                   
                      
 
                     March 25th 
 

 

    188   _ 
March 20     



 



 
 

Sequence  Subject  Date  Number Authority  Procedures  Notified Officer 

2.  In the eastern Darbandikhan 
area and the Operation al‐Anfal 
area … We ought to continue to 
hit the enemy and the saboteurs 
with fire, artillery, and Air Force 
attacks, giving them no chance to 
stabilize and catch their breath. 
It is preferable to use the special 
ammunition by artillery at night, 
either by surprise or by including 
special ammunition strikes 
within the regular artillery strikes 
with special ammunition. 
 
 
G.C.A.F. directions for March 19, 
1988. 

Item (2) 
 

March 20, 
1988 

177  The Secretariat of 
G.C.A.F. 

 
 
1‐ The highly confidential and personal memo  
188   _  
                                                                                                             March 20    

  from the Chairmanship of the Chief of Staff of 
the Army, addressed to/ the Operations Office 
Staff Major General Sultan Hashem Ahmed ‐ 
Commander of Operation Anfal 1, and  
Staff Major General Kamel Sajit ‐ Commander 
of the 1st Corps, which includes putting the 
aforementioned directions into action. 

                                                
Staff Colonel  
Abed Khalaf Muhammad 
 
 
 
 
 
March 26, 1988 
 
Subject considered 
completed by retaking 
the land and destroying 
the enemy in the Halabja 
area of operation.     
                   
                   
 
 
 
                          7/31 
 

 

 



 



 
 

Sequence  Subject  Date  Number Authority  Procedures  Notified Officer 

3.  Effective tomorrow, 
everything will be 
approved after the 
members of the General 
Command's visit to the 1st 
Corps Command, and after 
checking the required 
plans.  
 
 
G.C.A.F. directions on the 19th of 
March 1988. 

Item (3) 
 

March 20, 
1988 

177  The Secretariat of 
G.C.A.F. 

 
 

                                                
Staff Colonel  
Abed Khalaf Muhammad 
 
 
 
 
 
March 26, 1988 
 
Considered completed 
and proceeded with at 
the direction of the 
Command members. 
                   
                      
 
 
 
                        7/31 
 

 

 



 



 
 

Sequence  Subject  Date  Number Authority  Procedures  Notified Officer 

4.  To draw lessons from this battle 
in order to avoid falling into the 
same mistakes again. 
 
G.C.A.F. directions on March 19, 
1988. 

Item (4) 
 

March 20, 
1988 

177  The Secretariat of 
G.C.A.F. 

 
1‐ The highly confidential and personal memo 
  188 issued on the   _                                                 
20th of March  from the Chairmanship of the 
Chief of Staff of the Army addressed to/ the 
Operations Office, 
Staff Major General Sultan Hashem Ahmed, 
Commander of Operation Anfal 1, and  
Staff Major General Kamel Sajit, Commander of 
the 1st Corps, which includes information 
about executing the directions. 

                                                
Staff Colonel  
Abed Khalaf Muhammad 
 
 
 
 
 
March 26, 1988 
 
General direction to be 
reported to the 
Commanders of the 1st 
and 5th Corps 
memo of the 
Chairmanship of the 
Chief of Staff of the Army 
  188   _  
March 20th     
                   
                      
 
 
                     March 25th 
 

 



 



 

Sequence  Subject  Date  Number Authority  Procedures  Notified Officer 

5.  What is required now is to be 
true leaders, not just 
kindhearted people. This is true 
of the army, the party, in the 
union, and in the governmental 
administration. The role of the 
leader is to enlighten the shaky 
with (deterrence and guidance) 
and bring them back to their 
senses, and encourage the brave 
when they show the proper 
values in their acts, within the 
framework that should be 
practiced by everyone. 
 
G.C.A.F. directions on Saturday, 
the 19th of March 1988. 

Item (5) 
 

March 20, 
1988 

177  The Secretariat of 
G.C.A.F. 

 
1‐ The highly confidential and personal memo 
  188   _   issued on the 20th of March by the 
Chairmanship of the Chief of Staff of the Army 
addressed to/ the Operations Office 
Staff Maj. Gen. Sultan Hashem Ahmed ‐ 
Commander of Operation Anfal 1st  
Staff Maj. Gen. Kamel Sajit ‐ Commander of 1st 
Corps. 
Which includes informing the notice. 

                                                
Staff Col.  
Abed Khalaf Muhammad 
 
 
 
 
 
March 26, 1988 
 
 
 
 
General direction  
  
 
                     March 27th 
 

 

 

 



 



 
 

Sequence  Subject  Date  Number Authority  Procedures  Notified Officer 

6.  When the weather turns bad, 
artillery, with its various ranges, 
is to be used even on the areas 
that were earmarked for the Air 
Force, in order to not give the 
enemy a chance to catch its 
breath. 
 
G.C.A.F. directions issued on the 
19th of March 1988. 
 

March 20, 
1988 

177  The Secretariat of 
G.C.A.F. 

 
1‐ The highly confidential and personal memo 
  188 issued on the   ______                                      
20th of March   from the Chairmanship of the 
Chief of Staff of the Army addressed to/ the 
Operations Office,  
Staff Major General Sultan Hashem Ahmed,  
Commander of Operation Anfal 1,   
Staff Major General Kamel Sajit, Commander of 
the 1st Corps, which includes information 
about the directions and executing them. 

                                                
Staff Colonel  
Abed Khalaf Muhammad 
 
 
 
 
 
March 26, 1988 
 
 
Subject considered 
completed by reporting 
the direction. 
                      
 
 
                       March 27th 
 

 

 



 



 
 

                                       In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful                                           

5 

 

                  

 

       TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL                   No.:    / A /13/ 177 

                                   Date: March 20, 1988  

To/ The Honorable Mr. Deputy Supreme Commander of the Armed Forces, Minister of Defense 
 
Mr. Honorable Army Chief of Staff 

 

Subject/ Directions 

Mr. President, the Supreme Commander of the Armed Forces, may God protect him, has ordered during 
the General Command of the Armed Forces meeting on Saturday, March 19, 1988, the following: 
 
1 ‐ [The] required arrangements in ([the] Anfal area of operation) for the summer must be thought of 
starting now, in order to not see the saboteurs' existence in the area again. We may need additional or 
alternative troops. 
2 ‐ In [the] eastern Darbandikhan area and Operation al‐Anfal area, we ought to continue to hit the 
enemy and the saboteurs with fire, artillery, and Air Force [operations], giving them no chance to 
stabilize and catch their breath. It is preferable to use the special ammunition by artillery at night, either 
by surprise, or by including special ammunition strikes within the regular artillery strikes. 
3 ‐ Effective tomorrow, everything will be approved after the General Command members' visit to the 

1st Corps Command, and after checking the required plans. 

4 ‐ Most importantly was to draw lessons from this battle in order to not fall into the same mistakes 

again. 

 

 

 

 

 

 (1‐2) 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

                   Republic of Iraq 
          Presidency of the Republic 
Secretariat of General Command of the 

Armed Forces



 



 
 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

 

5‐ What is required now is true leaders, not just kindhearted people. This is true in the army, in the 

party, in the union, and in the governmental administration. The role of the leader is to enlighten the 

shaky with (deterrence and guidance,) and to bring them back to their senses, and encourage the brave 

when they demonstrate the proper values in their acts, [all] within the framework that should be 

practiced by everyone. 

6‐ When the weather turns bad, various ranges of artillery should be used, even on the areas that were 

earmarked for the Air Force, in order to not give the enemy a chance to catch its breath. 

To be kindly reviewed with the required [individuals], and [to] be returned to us when finishing it … with 

respect. 

 

 

 

 

                 Staff Lieutenant General 

                Ala'uddin Kadhem Hammad 

            Secretary of the General Command of the Armed Forces 

                         

                       

A copy to/ 

Presidency of the Republic (The Secretary)/ Kindly review … with respect.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

‐2‐ 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL 

3/20 



 



 
 

          2 

SECRET AND URGENT 3/20/              Class 2/ 

From/ [The] Eastern Region Military Intelligence Office 

To/ [The] General Directorate of Military Intelligence / Section 20 

Number/ Section 1/ Class 1/ 5449/ Penjwin/ Halabja/ Khormal/1/100000/ We learned from a source of a 

good reliability score /./1/./ Enemy units are distributed in [the] Halabja and Khormal areas of operation 

as follows /./A/ A headquarters in the village of Eneb /9296/ Inside the school building and nearby that 

area is an unidentified armored regiment /./B/./ [There is] a subordinate headquarters in the Village of 

Hassan Aweh /8892/ and near it there is a number of tanks. /./C/./ An armored regiment in [the] Bamok 

area /9191/ near Nour /./D/./ An armored regiment in [the] Khormal area /./E/./ [There is] an armored 

regiment near Thulum Bridge,  which is close to the village of Kardi Ko. /8807/./ 2/./ The enemy suffered 

the following losses as a result of the chemical attack /./A/ 500 killed and a large number of wounded in 

Dezle /./0414/ B/./ 500 ‐ 600 [people were] killed, and a number of wounded in [the] Tarkhan Abad area 

/Unknown/ near Marewan /./C/./ 2500 [were] killed, and a large number [were] wounded in Halabja, 

[including] from [the] Khomeini Guards, saboteurs, and from the [local] residents /./3/./ The enemy 

intends to conduct an offensive in [the] Darbandikhan/ Penjwin area of operation in the coming days 

and head into the following axes /./A/ [The] axis of Shamiran and Barda Dokan toward Darbandikhan 

/./B/./ [The] axis of Bani Banok /8920/ Siyaoma / Unknown/ and Kani Sef /8728/ Faya /8334/ in [the] 

Penjwin area of operation /./4/./ The task of the Khomeini Guards and the saboteurs in the Qara Dagh 

area of operation will be to support the enemy attack on Darbandikhan, and they have in Qara Dagh a 

large force consisting of /A/ 600 armed [personnel] from the Khomeini Guards /B/ 600‐650 [personnel] 

from the al‐Barzani faction /C/ 800‐1000 [personnel] from the saboteurs of Iran's collaborators faction 

of the following sequences /57/ 55, 15, 51, and 59 /./D/./ 300 [personnel] from the saboteurs of the 

Islamic Movement /./E/./ 150 [personnel] from the Hasask faction [also known as the Kurdish Socialist 

Movement] /./F/./ 50‐60 saboteurs from the Communist faction /./5/./ The saboteurs of Iran's 

collaborators faction facilitated the crossing of Iranian Kurdistan Democratic Party fighters who 

withdrew from the Byara area to Sayed Sadeq during the recent operation/ Kindly to be reviewed 

...........  

 

Mr. Deputy  

Kindly review, as the Staff Colonel Thyab was notified 

at 2215 hours; your recommendation of notifying Section 3 and Section 13 

 

 

20 
3/20  671 

3/20 

(Khidhir Rasheed Bahri) 

which is from the 
withdrawn group 
         3/20  Section 3 + Section 

13 
To be marked and 
followed‐up by 
whom it concerns. 
Advisement [will 
be] in the evening 
through God's will.

  3/22/88 

 



 
 

    

Under advisement 
3/22 

Lt. Col. 
3/22/883/20 Maher/ Usama 



 



 
 

                8 

 

Mr. Director General 

 

Subject/ Halabja Battles 

[The] Eastern Region Military Intelligence Office’s highly confidential and personal memo no. 424 on 

March 18, 1988 (attached). 

1 ‐ The aforementioned memo included the negative aspects of our troops' procedures in [the] Halabja 

area, which have enabled the Iranian enemy and the saboteurs to achieve successes and control [the] 

Khormal‐Halabja area. 

2 ‐ We suggest notifying the 5th Adjutancy to forward a summary of what has been reported in the 

aforementioned memo to the secretary for the presidency of the republic, and a proposal to form a fact‐

finding committee regarding the subject. 

Kindly review … with your recommendation … with respect. 

 

                      

                     

 Staff Brigadier General 

                          Senior Secretary  

 
 
To/ Mr. 5th Adjutant 
Kindly review and act according to 
Mr. Director General's comments. 

52 
Media 

March 23, 
1988 

Jamal 
March 20th  

Mr. Director 
General has 
agreed to 
dismiss the 
proposal for 
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finding 

committee.  
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Staff Brigadier General  
Senior Secretary 

                                                                Jamal 
                                                                 March 20th  
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6 ‐ Orders [have been] issued to burn all of the weapons and ammunition, gear, equipment, etc. that led 

to [the] morale breakdown of the soldiers that began to think about how to save themselves by any 

means [necessary]. Whereas, if we wanted to count the size of [our] force on the ground, it was very 

large, including the 43rd Force Command – the 67th Special Forces Brigade ‐ the Commando Brigade of 

the 4th Corps – the Fifth Legion Command – the Halabja Operation Command – (4) the Commando 

Battalions – (4) the Force Protection and Guarding Battalions – the 443rd Brigade ‐ special detachments 

associated with the Security and Halabja Military Intelligence Center – a number of National Defense 

Battalions – the Eighth Legion Command – Four Artillery Regiments – two light missile batteries... etc. 

7 ‐ [The] failure to take quick action by the commanders, especially since most of the sources who have 

returned to the rear lines confirm that at the beginning the attack, [it] was no more than a number of 

saboteurs' patrols, and a limited number of Khomeini Guards that do not commensurate with the size of 

our troops in the region. The proof of this is that the Iranian opposition guerillas are still fighting in [the] 

Hawar area, in addition to a number of Iraqi soldiers [that] are fighting to the west of the subdistrict of 

Sirwan; and it is certain that the enemy existence became wider in the area to consolidate the success 

made there, which was not even in its dreams, the proof of which is when the enemy named the 

operation “Thafar Seven” (Victory) at the beginning of the attack, and quickly changed the name to “Fajr 

Ten” (Dawn), and [then] terminated the fourth stage of the operation. 

8‐ The prominent weakness in the Corps Operations Staff Committee, with [its] lack of keeping pace 

with the situation continuously. 

9‐ Weakness in the 43rd Force's command, especially [that of] Staff Major General Ali Hussein Owaiyed, 

about whom a lot of talk is circulating, [even implying his weakness] to [be to] the extent of collusion. 

When a large number of Halabja residents referred to the Sulaymaniyah Military Intelligence Center, 

where they expressed their complaints, [and] requested solely ammunition in order to deal with the 

saboteurs' patrols, he refused, saying literally that, (“The army is responsible […] 
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[…] for handling the situation and you have nothing to do with that”), and the Security Committee 

members in the district of Halabja tried to meet with him to handle the dangerous situation prior to the 

attack, but he refused, which led Mr. Governor of Sulaymaniyah to contact the corps chief of staff and 

Mr. Army Chief of Staff by phone to get this embarrassing situation resolved. 

10‐ It can be said that what happened in Halabja is no different from the disaster that happened in al‐

Muhammara, where chaos and confusion was all over the place, and complete paralysis prevailed [over] 

the situation. 

11‐ Saboteurs had a prominent role in the operation because of their knowledge of the area’s 

geography; most of them are local residents and know where the weaknesses exist, as well as the 

transportation nodes, which if held, make [for] complete control of the withdrawal lines and the secure 

delivery of supplies and reinforcements. 

12‐ [A] lack of steadfastness of the fighters in their trenches, and there are many factors related to this 

matter; [there is] no need to narrate [them] here. 

13‐ Despite the availability of adequate information about the axes of the attack and its trends and 

timings, it did not attract the attention of the Corps Command, and instead was dealt with superficially. 

Kindly review … with respect.           

                   

 

Staff Colonel 

              Eastern Region Military Intelligence Director 

A copy to: 

The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Section 3)/ To be kindly reviewed. 
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SECRET AND URGENT 

 

 

From/ The Ministry of Defense Office 

To/ The Chairmanship of the Army Chief of Staff, Air Force Air Defense Command, and Army Aviation 

And/ The Presidency of the Republic‐ the Secretary, the Secretariat of the General Command of the 

Armed Forces 

Special Security Service 

Issuance number (.) 1790 (.) QS (.) Approval was received to strike the enemy with Special Ammunition 

by using [the] Air Force, Army Aviation, and artillery along the battlefront (.) With [the] 1st Corps front 

being the priority (.) Secretariat of GCAF ‐ Your confidential and urgent message on 4/5/28 QS (.) 

 

 

          Reviewed 
               3/22 
Mr. Secretary General                    Naval Staff Major General  

Kindly to be reviewed                        Abed Muhammad Abdullah 

                   Acting\ Secretary General of the Ministry of Defense 

4790 
3/22  Time of issuance 

         1245 
Date 
3/22 

 

3/22 



 



 
 

Copy of the Office     SECRET AND URGENT              Issuance Date    Date 

                               3/22/1988 

 

From/ [The] Presidency of the Republic (The Secretariat of the General Command of the Armed Forces) 

To/ [The] Ministry of Defense Office 

And the Presidency of the Republic (The Secretary) ‐ Special Security Service 

 

Issuance no. /4/5/28/QS .) 

Approval was received to strike the enemy with Special Ammunition 

using the Air Force, Army Aviation, and artillery along the battlefront (.)  

With [the] 1st Corps front as priority. 

         

 

 

 

 

 

     

 

Staff Lieutenant General 

Secretary General of the General Command of the Armed Forces 

              3/22 
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SECRET AND URGENT          SECRET AND URGENT       

         

To/ The Ministry of Defense Office 

And – The Secretary of the Service 

Approval was received to strike the enemy with Special Ammunition through Artillery, Army Aviation, 

and Air Force [attacks] along the battlefront (.) with the 1st Corps front as the priority. 

(.) Over. 

 

 



 



 
 

TOP SECRET AND URGENT    Issuance time 

                2300  3/22       

 

From / Naseh 

To / 5th Adjutancy 

Issuance no. / QS/     /       (.) 1 (.) The planned strike was not executed by helicopters on 

the night of 3/22‐23 in the area of Peak 618 ‐ Rasheen, because of the bad weather and the pilots were 

not able to find the target acquisition (.) 2 (.) During the hour of 1830, a strike by tube launchers/special 

ammunition was implemented on the village of Siostan (4697) to support Operation Anfal number/ 2 (.) 

3 (.) The proposed targets to be treated with the Special Ammunition by the Air Force for 3/23 are (.) A 

(.) Dezla (0414) (0515) (0214) Khormal 1/100000 (.) B (.) Wadi Thulum (0012) (9908) Khormal ‐ Halabja 

1/100000 (.) C (.) Kani Kroshkan (8288) Halabja 1/100000 (.) D (.) (......) (4783) (4683) Penjwin 1/100000 

(.) To be kindly reviewed. 

 

 

 

 

 

                  Staff Colonel 

Reviewed  
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Mr. / The Deputy 

Subject / Air strikes for March 23, 1988 

1 ‐ The following are the proposed air strikes to be executed with conventional ammunition on March 

23, 1988: 

A ‐ [The] 34th and 36th Divisions’ area of operation with top priority. 

Wadi Thulum (9609) (9709), Dezele (0314), Mulla Khord (0012), Dera Mer (0006), from Byara ‐ Taweela 

(0198), Derora (8879). 

B ‐ [The] 27th Division’s area of operation with second priority. 

Snao (9823), Askol (9625), Kani Kyod (9427), Sardosh (9730), Dera Tefi (9932). 

C ‐ [The] 44th Division’s area of operation with second priority. 

(3673), (3772) Mawt area. 

2 ‐ There are other air strikes in [the] Halabja area which will be ordered through immediate requests. 

To be kindly reviewed. 

 

 

 

 

Staff Colonel Pilot 

Reviewed                            Ghazi Ahmed Khalil     

                                   March 22, 1988   
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Section 13 

              Eastern Region Military Intelligence Office 

              No./ 1st Political/ Class 1/ 3405 

              Date/ March 22, 1988 

To/ The General Directorate of Military Intelligence  (5th Adjutancy) 

Subject/ Information 

Maps: Mishaf 1/100000 

We learned from one of the cooperator (Uthman Abdullah's) sources, whose reliability level is good, the 

following: 

1 ‐ The Persian regime is currently evacuating Halabja residents from the city with their belongings, from 

furniture to vehicles, toward the inside [of the] Iranian border, and a part of [the] Halabja residents [are] 

headed to the neighboring villages. The enemy has also opened a special compound for the people of 

Halabja inside Iran. 

2 ‐ The Persian enemy is currently digging bunkers in front of the city of Halabja, and digging trenches 

and putting barbed wire around the bunkers and trenches. The enemy has also dug several bunkers on 

the main roads leading to Halabja, Khormal, Byara, and Taweela, and brought a large force of guards and 

Basij from the aforementioned areas, and installed a large number of anti‐aircraft weapons on the 

outskirts of Halabj, Byara, and Taweela. 

3 ‐ All enemy reinforcements arrive at night, and pursue the following routes: 

A ‐ Ahmed Awa Route toward Khormal. 

B ‐ Dezle Nawsood Route. 
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C ‐ Taweela route. 

D ‐ Sazan and Chinara, after the enemy installed four steel bridges on Sirwan River. 

4 ‐ The enemy has brought in most of their forces using helicopters. 

5 ‐ The enemy’s death toll increased greatly after our aircraft and artillery bombings on the city of 

Halabja, and reached up to (3,000) [Khomeini] Guards and Basij killed. Their corpses have been 

evacuated to the city of Bawa, in addition to large numbers of the wounded, and [the death toll] from 

the civilian [population] reached (4,000) killed, all of them Halabja residents and from the neighboring 

residential complexes and villages; most of the losses were the result of the chemical attack. 

6 ‐ The forces that participated in the campaign on the city of Halabja are:  

A ‐ [Khomeini] Guards and Basij forces. 

B ‐ A large force from the al‐Barazani faction.  

C ‐ A large force of the Islamic Movement's saboteurs. 

D ‐ A force of Iran's collaborators. 

E ‐ A force of Kurdistan Socialist Party saboteurs. 

7 ‐ The enemy will conduct an attack on the Shamiran area, rush into Darbandikhan Dam, and destroy it. 

The guards and the saboteurs who are stationed in Qara Dagh were informed to be prepared to rush 

toward Darbandikhan when the attack begins, and their task is to cut off the road that connects 

(Darbandikhan to Aarbet) and cut off the road [from] (Darbandikhan to Kalar). The enemy has also 

prepared and deployed large numbers of Guards, Basij, and saboteurs to the Penjwin area, and it will 

attack the Qaya and Hadeed area, and rush into Sayed Sadeq and Shandry. There is also a large enemy 

force in the Sheikh Almareen area, and […]  
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All enemy forces are now prepared and waiting for the order; the enemy has also deployed a number of 

saboteurs to the Guards battalions that exist in the area to be assigned for the task of guidance.  

8‐ The enemy has established a guard headquarters in the Ahmed Awa area, which was visited by the 

criminal Muhsen Ridha'ee. There is a large force of guards in the area prepared to conduct the attack, 

estimated to be around 7,000 individuals. 

9‐ There is an artillery regiment in the Ahmed Awa area, and another artillery regiment in the rear of the 

city of Halabja in the direction of Hawar, there is also a number of tanks and armored personnel carriers 

in the Ahmed Awa and Khormal areas. 

10‐ Saboteur losses totaled (80) killed as a result of our aircrafts bombing the city of Halabja, among the 

dead were (11) of the prominent elements of the saboteurs, including the saboteur Shawkat Haj 

Musheer, who is [from] one of the Iranian collaborator factions.  Many others were wounded. 

11‐ There is currently an enemy force of about 1,500 fighters in Dereh Tofi (9933); all of them belong to 

the Guards.  

12‐ There is still a number of military personnel that have not been captured by the Persian enemy; 

[they] are existing among the people of the villages of Halabja and they are dressed in Kurdish attire. 

To be kindly reviewed. 

 

 

                  Staff Colonel 

              Eastern Region Military Intelligence Director 

A copy to/ 

The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Section 3)/ To be kindly reviewed. 
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SECTION III: 
Post‐Attack 

 
This section includes documents concerning the years after the 1988 attack, separated into 
three subsections: military documents, media articles, and court documents. Some of the 
media articles are referenced in the military documents, with senior officials being particularly 
interested in 1) how the international community perceived the attacks, and 2) the 
whereabouts of certain “criminals” involved in the attack that fled the country in its wake. This 
section includes interviews with said former Iraqi military officials discussing the attack with 
international media outlets.  
 
Another particular to note is the few documents concerning “amnesty” for Halabja residents.  
In the wake of the attack, Halabja residents were offered amnesty or a reprieve from 
retaliation, if they agreed to be moved away from their homes. This mass deportation was a 
tactic common to the Hussein regime in order to further persecute Kurdish civilians. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

TOP SECRET 

 

                ‐  

To/ The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Section 3) 

Subject/ Information 

Maps: Halabja . Khormal . Penjwin . Mishaf 1/ 100000 

On the date of March 24, 1988 we met with our source (Kaweh) and obtained the following information 

from our meeting with him: 

1‐ The aforementioned source was in Halabja. 

2‐ As a result of the chemical strike on Halabja and its outskirts, about (1,200) fighters from the 

[Kohmeini] Guards and the Basij were killed and wounded, and nearly (1,500) Halabja residents were 

killed and wounded. 

3‐ A large force of the Persian enemy exists in the Iranian Dezle (0414); elements of those forces are 

being sent inside Iraqi borders through Mullah Khord (0012), toward Ashkinao (9810), and Ahmed Awa 

(9606). 

4‐ Below are the numbers of enemy elements that currently exist in the areas marked next to each: 

A‐ (2,500 – 3,000) fighters of the [Kohmeini] Guards and the Basij in the Ahmed Awa area, and some of 

them are scattered in the Ahmed Awa woods. 

B‐ (50) tanks in the Ahmed Awa area. 

C‐ (500) fighters from the Khomeini Guards in Khormal (9506). 

E‐ (1,500 – 2,000) fighters in Halabja. 

F‐ (1,500) fighters in Sirwan (8601). 

G‐ (200 ‐ 250) fighters in Balambo (9286). 

H‐ (130 ‐ 150) in Bafri Meri (0188). 

(1‐5) 
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H ‐ The enemy has established lookouts in Kani Tou, (8193) which is located behind Sirwan, and each 

lookout contains nearly (20) fighters. 

I ‐ A small force near Imam Zamel (7997). 

J ‐ (600) fighters in Nour (8718). 

K ‐ A large enemy force behind Mount Nour (8718), and the aforementioned force in (J) is considered to 

be a front for this force. 

L ‐ (100) fighters on the hill located by the bridge in Khormal junction (9505). 

M ‐ (150) fighters to protect the route that connects Khormal junction with the town of Khormal. 

5 ‐ Rear lines of the enemy units and the backup units exist in Taweela (0895) ‐ Byara (0198) – [and] Naw 

Sour (0992). Enemy units are being reinforced in the Halabja area of operation and the rest of the areas 

of this region, knowing that reinforcements continue [to arrive] on a daily basis through the road from 

Taweela to Khormal. 

6 ‐ The Khomeini Guard battalion headquarters located near Sherser (9308) in the area located between 

the hill and Sherser Village. 

7 ‐ The enemy has opened a route from Sherser to Meri Sour (9114). 

8 ‐ The enemy managed to connect Chara Sos (           ) with Chinara (9217), and currently stopped 

working on this route; as the route mentioned above in (item no. 7) made it unnecessary, and 

alternatively it is more accessible. 

9 ‐ Most of the enemy forces in the area consist of: 

A. Muhammad Rasoulullah.  

B. Amir al‐Mu'mineen. 

C. Hussein ... (He did not recall the rest of the names.) 

10 ‐ The forces mentioned above in (item no. 9) are overseen by (Khatem al‐Anbiya) Headquarters, as 

well as Ramadhan Operations Headquarters. 

11 ‐ In the areas of Bani Shar (9312), Harpila (9515), Dara Tfeh (9415), and the highlands located behind 

Resheen (8813). There is a force […] 

(2‐2) 
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TOP SECRET 

[…] of Khomeini Guards along with (100) saboteurs from the Kurdistan Socialist Party faction, and (90) 

saboteurs from the al‐Barazani faction. 

12‐ The Islamic Movement of Kurdistan has established a rear headquarters in the Shekhan area (          ) 

where (200) saboteurs exist under the command of the criminal Mullah Abdul‐Rahman Sayed Faraj, 

knowing that Mullah Ibrahim, who is one of the movement’s leaders, is currently existing in the Qara 

Dagh area of operation. 

13‐   [On] the next day of our troops' chemical strike on Halabja, [the] Persian regime's prime minister, 

[the] so‐called Mir Hossein Mousavi, arrived in the city along with Mullah Ali, who is the military leader 

of the Islamic Movement in Kurdistan, accompanied by Iranian journalists, as well as journalists from 

France and Italy. They all then returned to the Iranian city of Bawa (          ) after visiting the area. 

14‐ The enemy has opened a road from Shekhan (           ) to Dereh Tfeh (          ) and to Hawar Kon (         ) 

then to Hawar (          ). 

15‐ The following are the sabotage movements that participated with the Persian enemy in the attack 

on the Halabja area of operation: 

A. The Kurdistan Socialist Party under the command of the criminal Muhammad Haj Mahmoud 

Kalkhana, in addition to the party saboteurs who have the duty of guiding the enemy units, as 

(60) saboteurs have actually participated in the attack on Halabja. 

B. The Islamic Movement of Kurdistan, under the supervision  of the criminals Mullah Uthman and 

Mullah Ali, in addition to the saboteurs of the aforementioned movement, have the duty of 

guiding the enemy units, as (200) saboteurs have actually participated in the attack on Halabja 

under the command of Mullah Muhammad and Mulah Abdul‐Rahman, who are the leaders of 

the […] 
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C ‐ In addition to some of their saboteurs [within the] al‐Barazani faction who have the duty of guiding 

the Persian enemy units, (200) of them have actually participated in the attack on Halabja. 

D ‐ (150) saboteurs from Iran's collaborators who were in the Hawar area, (        ) and among them are 

their leaders: Shawkat Haj Musheer, Muhammad Moryasi, and Qader Kokawi. The aforementioned force 

has actually participated in the attack on Halabja. 

16 ‐ The Persian enemy's current intentions:  

A. Occupying Darbandikhan by sending units forward from the Nour area (       ) and from Kani Jana 

(      ) (located next to Parda Doken ‐              ‐   ) and cutting off the road to Darbandikhan from 

the Mu'askar Chinara area (         ). 

B. The Persian enemy is conducting operations in the Penjwin area of operation, aiming to reach 

the Kora Kojaw area, (         ) and then isolate Sayed Sadeq, and reach the Qara Dagh area of 

operation, knowing that there is an important enemy concentration in Jambaro (        ). 

Comment:  We  have  previously  received  information  about  the  enemy's  intentions  in  the 

aforementioned areas in order to reach Haji Mamend, (          ) which is located near Kara Kojaw.  

17 ‐ The Persian enemy brought more than (200) boats in the area located in front of Lawran (         ) and 

Sirwan River (           ) toward Shamiran (          ). 

18  ‐ Persian enemy  individuals are continuously scouting  the area of Darbandikhan, and among  those 

who scout are (Sadiqi and Hamza), who are leaders of the enemy forces. 
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 […] the Persian enemy in Mount Nour (           ). 

19 ‐ Even now, the date of the potential attack on Darbandikhan is not clear, as the enemy does not 

want to precipitate the [attack], aiming to make sure of the following:  

A. Detailed reconnaissance. 

B. Exploring our troops in the area. 

C. Attempting to coordinate with insiders. 

D. Good planning. 

E. Certainty of operational success. 

F. Incurring the lowest possible [number of] losses. 

20 ‐ It has been decided that the saboteurs in Qara Dagh, Halabja, and Penjwin will join the Persian 

enemy in the indicated and intended attack. 

21 ‐ The saboteurs' losses in Halabja totaled (15) killed and (20) wounded. 

22 ‐ The criminal Shawkat Haj Musheer's injury was not confirmed. 

23 ‐ Individuals from the Khomeini Guards in Halabja have killed a woman who (cursed) them, and as a 

result, saboteurs from Iran's collaborators opened fire on the Khomeini Guards and killed two 

[individuals], which led to tension in the relationship between the two sides in Halabja. Iran's 

collaborators then left from Halabja for Hawar. 

To be kindly reviewed. 

 

                     

                  Staff Colonel 

                         Eastern Region Military Intelligence Director 

A copy to/ 

The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Fifth Adjutancy/ Headquarters)/ To be Kindly reviewed. 

The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Section 13)/ To be Kindly reviewed. 

The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Section 20)/ To be Kindly reviewed. 
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In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

               (3)                                                     TOP SECRET 

      ‐: 

                ‐  

 

To/ The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Section 3) 

Subject/ Information 

 

Maps: Halabja ‐ Khormal  1/ 100000 

We learned from our source (Dhya'a) the following: 

1‐ After the Persian enemy occupied the town of Halabja, it intended to conduct the following again: 

A. Occupy Sayed Sadeq. 

B. Capture Penjwin Road. 

C. Conduct an attack targeting Darbandikhan by pushing from Shameran Mountain (7585), Alan, 

and Hassel (6905), and through to Sirwan River. The Persian enemy has mobilized a large 

number of small and fast‐moving boats to take advantage of them during the attack on the 

mentioned axis. The enemy has also brought a large number of naval forces to the area. 

2‐ The sabotage movements are supposedly joining the Persian enemy in the operations mentioned 

above in (item no. 1), and the source has suggested transporting the residents from […] 
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Eastern Region Military Intelligence Office 

No/ 3rd DPT/ Class 2/ 3709 

Date/ March / 27/ 1988 

Al‐Barazani faction 
100 

((Dhya'a)) 
     ‐ 226‐ 

    200 
3/28/88 



 



 
 

              TOP SECRET 
                   
 
[…] the areas of (Sayed Sadeq, Zarayeen, and Darbandikhan) to other areas, because in the case of the 
Persian enemy controlling the population, it will utilize them as follows:  
 

A. Transfer the local residents to Iran so that the subversive movements are subject to the 
desires of the Persian enemy, [and] to execute its orders and the duties they were 
assigned to. 

 
B. Normalize the people after a period of time and distribute weapons to them, especially 

the young people, and entice them with money, and involve them in the fight against 
Iraq, and enlist them into what is called [the] “Kurdish Islamic Movement.” 

 
1. It is very important to take precautions in the area of Qal'at Dizeh under the current 

circumstances, and the source pointed out that he will provide us with information on the 
aforementioned area when [it is] obtained. 

 
2. [The] Persian enemy's decision, after being able to control other areas in the northern region, 

is to mobilize all Kurdish movements, [and] to solicit locals in the northern region to carry out 
wide‐range demonstrations as part of what is called [the] “National Uprising” against the 
leadership of the party and the revolution, by exploiting the use of chemical substances 
[aiming] to hit the Kurdish areas and [allegedly] kill thousands of people, especially in the 
area of Halabja and the residential complexes belonging to it.  

 
The issue has been discussed between the Persian enemy and the subversive movements. Also, Halabja 
and other areas that were occupied have been filmed in order to distribute [those] films with leaflets to 
the people in the northern region. 
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TOP SECRET 
               _______________ 

5. After the arrival of our units to the areas of Sargalo, Bargalo, and Kany Tou, while Halabja was 
occupied by the Persian enemy, there were significant disputes at the leading level among Iran's 
collaborators. (The source pointed out that he will provide us with details as soon as the facts 
become clearer [regarding the dispute]. [He will also provide more] of the important details and 
information about the areas of Sargalo, Bargalo, and Kany Tou.)  
 

6. A large number of Halabja and Sulaymaniyah residents are currently going to Iran through Qal'at 
Dizeh to inquire about the fates of their relatives, and the Persian enemy is conducting 
investigations with the aforementioned [individuals] and allowing some of them to cross into 
Iranian territory. 
 

7. Work is under way to open a temporary site at a leading level for Iran's collaborators and all 
other subversive Kurdish movements in the areas of Halabja and Ahmed Awa (9806), in order to 
oversee their saboteurs' participation in the current operations. 
 

8. The Persian enemy units are going through a state of panic in the area of Halabja, fearing that 
our troops may conduct an operation to recapture Halabja. One of their options is to conduct an 
airborne operation in order to recapture [the region]. The source said that it would be a great 
victory if our troops carried out the operation as soon as possible to retake Halabja and its 
overlooking highlands before the Persian enemy mobilizes its troops.   
 

9. The source said that he is heading now to the area of Halabja and will try to contact us upon [his] 
arrival there.  

To be kindly reviewed. 

 

                 
 
Staff Colonel 

            Director of the Eastern Region Intelligence Directorate 
 
 
 
A copy to/ 
__________ 
The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Fifth Adjutancy/Headquarters) ‐ To be kindly reviewed. 

              (3‐3) 
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   In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

 

 

                   Presidency of the Republic 

(Our martyrs will remain the noblest ones.)                     The Secretary               
                   General Directorate of Military Intelligence 

           Eastern Region Intelligence Office              

       /Section 3/ Class 1 Qadissiyat Saddam 

       Date/ April/ 2/ 1988     510 

         141/ 4/3/1988 

                       SECRET AND PERSONAL            
               ____________________ 
    

    To/ The General Directorate of Military Intelligence (Branch 3) 

    Subject / Monthly Report of Kurdish Saboteurs 

Attached is the monthly report about the Kurdish saboteurs within our office's area of operation in the 
northern region for the month of March 1988.  

Kindly review with respect.      

(Kareem, March 30)  

 

Attachments 
___________ 
(1) Report 
 
 
         Staff Colonel 
      Director of the Eastern Region Intelligence Agency 
 
 
 
         (1-1) 
 
     SECRET AND PERSONAL 
     ______________________ 

Please refer to the full number 



 



** Items no. 1 and 2 are part of a separate list not included in this binder. 
 

TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL  
_____________________ 

 
 

1. The attack on [the] Penjwin District [will be conducted by] pushing a force toward Totman 
(8932), and a force of guards and saboteurs from Chara Sos and Jomersy (8923) toward 
Goloss (7725), [in order] to block the road and isolate our troops in Totman, as well as 
push a force of saboteurs toward the border of Haji Mamand (6631) in order to control it. 
Also, a force of saboteurs accompanied by individuals from [the] Khomeini Guards 
heading to Qawilah (7124) [were all done] in an attempt to influence the public roads 
coming from the area of Kani Panka (6415).** 

 
2. A combined force of Khomeini Guards and saboteurs stationed in the Qara Dagh section 

has controlled the girder of Gulan (5883), and [has] blocked the road from the boundaries 
of [the] Bani Khellan Mineral Waters Plant. At the same time, the Persian enemy units are 
carrying out an attack on our troops (Shameran‐7585‐Barda Dogan‐7281‐Zamnago 
opening‐9878‐) in order to control Darbandikhan.** 

 
6. A faction of the Islamic Movement in Kurdistan established a rear headquarters in [the] Sheikhan 

area (0987) occupied by 200 saboteurs. Some of them [are] under the command of Mullah Abdul‐
Rahman Sayed Faraj. Note that the criminal Mullah Ibrahim, who is one of the leaders of the 
movement, is currently in Qara Dagh. 

 
7. On the next day of our troops striking Halabja with special ammunition, [the] so‐called Mir‐Hossein 

Mousavi (the Persian enemy's prime minister), [was] accompanied by the criminal Mullah Ali, the 

military leader of the Islamic Movement of Kurdistan, along with Iranian journalists, as well as 

journalists from France and Italy. Then, after visiting the area [of Halabja, they] all returned to Bawa 

in Iran (2479). 

  

8. The Islamic Movement of Kurdistan was involved in attacking Halabja under the supervision of the 

criminals Mullah Othman and Mullah Ali. In addition to that, the saboteurs of the aforementioned 

movement have been working as guides for the enemy units. Two hundred of the saboteurs actually 

participated in the attack on Halabja, under the command of the criminals, Mullah Muhammad and 

Mullah Abdul‐Rahman. 

 
 
 
 
 
                   (23‐13) 
                                                                  TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL  
                   _____________________ 
 
 
  



 



 
 

          In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful  

            TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL              
            __________________________ 
 
              Chairmanship of the Chief of Staff of the Army 
              No.: ACS/ 349 
              Date: 4/27/1988 
 
          To/ Staff MG Sultan Hashem, Commander of the 1st Corps 
                 Staff MG Ayad Khalil, Commander of the 5th Corps 
              

 Subject/ Instructions 
                  __________ 
   
The conference held in Kirkuk on April 27, 1988 
 
1 ‐ Hostile work courses 
     _________________ 
 
After a review of the enemy’s intentions toward the areas of both your corps and its work courses, and 
with its quest to occupy targets of civilian or besieging troops , that have a media focus, in order to 
compensate for [the loss of the] operation to liberate Fao, we find that its future work courses might be 
as follows: 
   
 A ‐ Occupying Darbandikhan: In spite of the difficult circumstances surrounding [us] and our strong 
defenses, the enemy might attack directly or indirectly in the 2nd Corps’s area of operation, and may 
reach important girders (obstacles) to help them achieve the main objective. 
 
B ‐ Occupying Sayed Sadeq: This is the second important objective in the 1st Corps’s area of operation. 
Also, precautions should be taken toward Bani Banok. 
 
C ‐ Occupying Dukan: Despite the difficulty of occupying [Dukan], [especially after] capturing Zalwan, 
Sheikh Muhammad, and Kani Tou, [these towns] formed a defensive line in front of [the Persian enemy], 
and these obstacles may form objectives that could be targeted by the enemy in the next phase. 
 
D ‐ Occupying Qal'at Dizeh: This is the most likely option, and the same plan of occupying Halabja from 
the wings down to Singar Strait could be applied as well. 
 
E ‐ Occupying important obstacles in the 33rd Division’s area of operation (Sarokah, Kashwan, and the 
group of mountain peaks to the west.) 
 
2 ‐ The next course of action: 
     ____________________ 
 
In light of what has been mentioned above, the required course of action should be completed as 
follows: 
 

1286/4/28 

M5/27574/4/28 

1700/4/30 C 1

151/5/1 



 
 

 
Marked for follow‐up 
            4/30 

(1‐2)                                            
TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL              
_________________________ 



 



            TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL  
          ___________________________ 
 

A ‐ During the period ending in July, we have to prudently defend the northern region and continue the 

limited attacks (prod attacks) toward objectives of tactical value, utilizing our available troops. 

B ‐ Preparing in earnest to defend Qal'at Dizeh by putting the potential enemy framework ahead, the 

5th Corps must consider defending the strait of Singar and Haybat Sultan, and from the wings 

(Nourriddine, Bashtashan, and Tirnavo) from Cham Rezan and Baliyan.  

C ‐ The 5th Corps must operate toward the saboteurs in [the] Qal'at Dizeh area of operation, and verify 

the identity of the National Defense Regiments and keep them away from the essential objectives by 

alerting the units. There must be a command center in Haybat Sultan with an organized battalion at 

least.  

D ‐ Reconsidering the freed units, and reorganizing, replenishing, and giving them proper training. 

E ‐ Executing Operation Anfal 4 in the Shwan and Cham Rezan basin according to the proposed plan, 

which was discussed in the Directorate of Planning with the amendments made by the 1st Corps, 

highlighting the necessity of sending out bumpers by the 5th Corps in coordination with the 1st Corps, 

and then launching the Anfal operations [in the 5th Corps area of operation] according to the adopted 

priorities in order to eliminate all of the sites [belonging to] the saboteurs in the northern region. 

F ‐ Using the special ammunition in [areas of] enemy concentration whenever possible, whether by the 

Air Force or artillery, launchers, [or] helicopters, before they undertake their operations against our 

troops (pre‐emptive strikes). Attacks with special ammunition can also be launched against the sites of 

the saboteurs. 

Kindly take the necessary action. 

                Mr. Director General  
                _________________ 
                To be kindly reviewed 
A copy to:                4/29   
_________ 
The Secretariat of the General Command of the Armed Forces  
The Ministry of Defense Office 
The Operations Department 
The General Directorate of Military Intelligence   
                      Staff Lt. Gen. 

        Reviewed                  Nizar Abdul‐Kareem Faysal 

             4/30                    Chief of Staff of the Army 

            TOP SECRET AND PERSONAL  
 

 

 



 



 
 

             
     

                                          Eastern Region Security Office 
                      3rd Section/ 1st Command 
            No./  May 7, 1988 

 
                   

To/ Mr. Director of the 3rd Section 
Subject/ Perusal 

 
 
1 ‐ We received information from [the] Sulaymaniyah Military Intelligence Center based on their urgent and 
confidential letter 1103 on 4/11/1988 paper snippet no. (1); which included the following:  
 

A ‐ An estimated force of 2,000 saboteurs of betraying guides, [belonging to the first branch mentioned 
above], has arrived under the command of the criminal Masoud al‐Barzani. Those who were returning to 
the 1st Branch from the aforementioned faction have been provided with rocket‐propelled grenade 
launchers (RPG‐7) carrying poisonous rockets (chemicals) in order to be used when attacking [the] Qara 
Dagh area. 
 
B ‐ Video tapes containing records of the Iraqi chemical attacks on the town of Halabja were spread out in 
the Governorate of Sulaymaniyah, and the video stores are selling these video tapes to the locals. 

 
2 ‐ We have requested through our confidential and urgent letter 6797 on 4/12/1988, from the aforementioned 
office  the possibility of obtaining the tapes referred [to] in paragraph B mentioned above, paper clipping 2. 
 
3 ‐ We have received a response from the office according to their confidential and urgent letter 1291 on 
5/6/1988, that [stated that] they were not able to obtain the video tape, paper clipping 3. 
 
4 ‐ I suggest approaching [the] Sulaymaniyah Military Intelligence Center. It was proposed by you to double‐check 
the incoming information and its accuracy before forwarding it to us; especially the information provided in your 
aforementioned letter about the existence of a video tape inside the Governorate of Sulaymaniyah [and the] video 
recording stores. The Governorate of Sulaymaniyah lies in your area of operation.  
 
To be kindly reviewed. 
 
 
 
To be reviewed by Mr. Director when he returns.           
Note that we did not report what has been received by the Directorate, and we recommend that [the] 
Sulaymaniyah Center keep track of the issue. 
 
 
 
 
 
Lt. Col.                        CPT  
May 7, 1988                Abdul‐Kareem Hassan Taher 
                  Officer 1st Command/ 3rd Section   
                    May 7, 1988 

  



 



 
 

        SECRET AND URGENT MESSAGE    Date 
        ___________________________           __________ 
                             10/6/1988 
 
From/ The Counter Hostile Activity Committee of the Governorate of Sulaymaniyah 
To/ The Counter Hostile Activity Subcommittees in the Districts 
 
Issuance no./ 1650/ Message from the North Formation Office Command/ Secretary Office, no. 2946 on 
10/4/1988. Hereunder, because the period of amnesty [has] approached its end, the honorable 
struggling Comrade Ali Hassan al‐Majid, Chief of the North Formation Office, has stated that: 
  
1‐ All committees [should] cease receiving the returnees at 0600 on 10/9/1988 

 
2‐ Send the returnees to the national rank as of 10/9/1988 to the North Formation Office Command/ 

the secretariat in coordination with the secretary of [the] Northern Affairs Committee. 
 
3‐ The military authorities hold the responsibility of escorting the [returnees] mentioned in paragraph 

(2) to the secretariat.  

 
Kindly take the necessary action and inform us [of the outcome] … with respect. 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
  To be reported to the Bazyan District 
  _________________________ 
            10/6           Jaafar Abdul‐Kareem al‐Barazanji 
              Chief of the Counter Hostile Activity Committee  
                  of the Governorate of Sulaymaniyah 
 
A copy to / 
Sulaymaniyah Branch Command of the Leading Party 
Sulaymaniyah Security Directorate     
Sulaymaniyah Military Intelligence Center 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For the same purpose as stated above ... with 

respect. 



 



 
 

           In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

(Committee/ 201/ 12/5/1988) 

Counter Hostile Activity Committee of the Sulaymaniyah Governorate 
No. / 1833 

Date/11/14/1988     

      To/ All Counter Hostile Activity Subcommittees in all districts 

            Subject/ Halabja People 

 

Following our memo 1745 on 10/27/1988 

Kindly inform us about what has been implemented regarding the deportation of Halabja residents, who 

were considered for the latest amnesty [decision] to the Governorate of Erbil, as soon as possible … 

please. 

 

 

 

                Jaafar Abdul‐Kareem al‐Barazanji 

            Chief of the Counter Hostile Activity Committee  
                   of the Sulaymaniyah Governorate 
 
 
Secretary of the Committee 
_______________________ 
To be written [to the following:]  
 
1‐ The representative of the Security Committee for the District of the Center of the Party 
2‐ The representative of the Security Committee for the District of the Center of the Security Directorate 
of Sulaymaniyah  
_________________________________________________________________________ 
Kindly respond to what has been mentioned in the above memo so that we can answer it knowing that 
we have already addressed both issues.     12/5 



 



 
 

            ‐31‐ 

                    112493/ 12/12 

      The Kurds Describe the Massacre of Iraq's Gas Attack 
      __________________________________________ 
Harvey Morris                              The Independent 

Middle East Affairs Editor                           11/22/1988 

 

A documentary filmmaker has returned from his secret visit to the Iraqi region of Kurdistan with 

eyewitness reports of the massacre that claimed the lives of thousands of Kurds, when air strikes with 

chemical weapons were launched against an isolated gorge located in the north of Iraq. He also 

returned loaded with samples of contaminated soil [that] seemed to constitute evidence for [the] 

mustard gas used by the Iraqi forces during their attack last summer. 

Gwen Roberts has conducted interviews with the survivors of the attacks [that took place] last August 

28 in the gorge of Passay, located twenty miles south of the Turkish borders and to the north of the Iraqi 

city of Amadiya. The eyewitnesses are young Kurdish rebels from the "peshmerga" who were on patrol 

in the mountains overlooking the narrow gorge when six to eight Iraqi air jets—"Sukhoi" models— 

bombed several thousands of Kurds—mostly women and children—who were in the valleys. 

A nineteen‐year‐old boy from the peshmerga and originally from the Iraqi city of Dohuk, described the 

scene to Roberts. "The airplanes were the normal warfare aircrafts,” [he said.] “The bombing had 

[already] started, and the first thing I noticed was the smell, a polythene‐like smell, or burnt plastic, or a 

sponge. Then a yellowish smoke appeared. Five to ten minutes later, I noticed that people started 

falling... First they were covering their eyes with their hands and they were shaking irregularly and 

screaming very loudly. After five to ten minutes, they fell onto the ground and started cramping; [the] 

trembling affected their bodies, then [they] stopped moving. The air strike continued for one hour.” 



 



 
 

            ‐32‐ 

 

Muhammad added that the peshmerga went down to the narrow gorge four to five hours later, "and 

there were 3,000 dead bodies and thousands of animals—all of them dead. A slight layer [of film] 

covered the eyes of the dead bodies, a bad‐smelling secretion came from their mouths and noses, and 

their skin was peeling off and bubbling. And [those] who remained alive were screaming and whining. 

There were also some kids crying…they were awfully deformed." Another eyewitness, seventeen‐year‐

old Fareez Taha, said, "We waited for nightfall. We had binoculars, and I saw the soldiers with their gas 

masks [on]. Thousands of them were entering the narrow gorge wearing [surgical] masks and gloves. 

From my hideout, I watched them drag bodies, stack [them], [and] then burn them. I saw more than a 

hundred fires." 

Roberts has a lot of experience with journalism in Kurdistan. He said, "I do not harbor any doubt that the 

attack occurred." [He added that] if the attack reports were accurate, they represent the most 

destructive, extreme usage of chemical weapons carried out by Iraq, killing at least 5,000 Kurds in the 

city of Halabja, which fell under Iranian occupation last March, when the Gulf War was about to end. 

Iraq repeatedly denied the use of chemical weapons against the Kurdish people during this summer's 

campaign against the Peshmerga. 

The Kurdish villagers escorted Roberts to another part of Iraq's Kurdistan [that] also experienced an Iraqi 

attack. He saw what is believed to be the remains of a chemical bomb, and he wore a protective suit and 

a gas mask. He also transferred some dirt and rock samples.  

He said that since then, lab tests in Britain revealed two samples that contained 1.4‐dithiane, which is a 

chemical material [that] emanates from mustard gas when it is exposed to high temperatures. Channel 4 

will air a documentary film called "Storms of Death" tomorrow on Wednesday evening. Roberts also said 

that [the] burnt plastic smell corresponded with the reports of using nerve gas, as the blackened skin of 

some of the dead may indicate the use of a test run on some type of synthetic nerve gas. 



 



 
 

      In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

            Republic of Iraq 

                    Ministry of Interior 

                      Governorate of Sulaymaniyah 

                                   Directorate of Internal Affairs 

                                   No. / 523/893 

                                         Date/ 22/ Thu al‐Qi'da/1409 Hijri 

                       June/25/1989 

 

        To/ The Governorate of Erbil/Directorate of Internal Affairs 

        Subject/ Family transfers 

Along with our memo, we are sending the families whose names are included in the enclosed list, which 

starts with no. 01, Mahmoud Ridha Bakr, and ends with no. 96, Wahab Fattah Qurbani, [together] with 

their household furniture. Kindly receive them and take the necessary action concerning them, and 

inform us of the outcome… [With] respect. 

 

                   

Muhammad Ameen Abbo 

                          Deputy Governor of Sulaymaniyah 

                    6/1989 

A copy to// 

The Arab Socialist Ba’ath Party, Sulaymaniyah Branch Command 

The Directorate of Sulaymaniyah Security 

The Directorate of Sulaymaniyah Police  

The Mayoralty of the District of the Center of Sulaymaniyah/ Your memo 3596 on 6/22/1989. Kindly 

take the necessary action. 

The mentioned names (                              ) 

 

To be kindly informed with 

respect. 



 
 

    To be referred to M O    27/2896/6/29 
    _____________________________________________ 
            To be marked 



 



 
 

    A List of Names of Halabja Residents 

 

No. Triple Name Address No. Triple Name Address 

1 Mahmoud Ridha Baker Kareza Wishk 2 Majid Mohammed Abdullah Sheikh Muhiddin 

3 Hamed Abdul-Hamid Abdul-Qader Chwarbakh 4 Abdul-Hamid Abdul-Qader Karim Chwarbakh 

5 Fattah Ahmed Mohammed Chwarbakh 6 Ali Hama Karim Othman Eshaba Spi 

7 Hassan Mohammed Hussein Eshaba Spi 8 Karim Hama Karim Eshaba Spi 

9 Mahdi Hama Raouf Abdul-Aziz Kareza 10 Fa'ek Baqi Karim Kareza Wishk 

11 Baqi Karim Aziz Kareza 12 Amin Sa'id Khalid Kareza Wishk 

13 Fanous Ahmed Mohammed Chwarbakh 14 Mulla Ahmed Mohammed Aziz Chwarbakh 

15 Hama Sa'id Abdullah Rahman Bakhtiari 16 Raouf Ali Sharif Srashqam 

17 Tawfiq Abdul-Qader Aziz Azaadi 18 Sattar Mohammed Aaref Bakhtiari 

19 Hasan Mahmoud Abdul-Karim Bakhtiari 20 Hama Raouf Mohammed Faraj Bakhtiari 

21 Amin Aali Weswesali Zarakta 22 Khalid Aabed Qader Khabat 

23 Amed Mahmoud Ridha Kareza Wishk 24 Hama Saleh Ahmed Baawel Srashqam 

25 Bershink Faraj Qader Srashqam 26 Hama Gharib Hama Ali Kareza Wishk 

27 Ahmed Hama Karim  Qurbani Dour al-Amen 28 Edris Karim Hama Sadiq Dour al-Amen 

29 Mohammed Abdulrahman Hussein Dour al-Amen 30 Taher Hama Gharib Hama Ali Srashqam 

31 Wahed Hama Karim Kareza Wishk 32 Majed Hama Gharib Kareza Wishk 

33 Tal'at Tawfik Kareza Wishk 34 Jamal Abdullah Abdul-Karim Chwarbakh 

35 Saleh Mohammed Saleh Kareza Wishk 36 Bahiya Rashid Abdullah Eskan 

37 Hedaya Mohammed Saleh Kareza Wishk 38 Ali Mohammed Sabhan Kareza Wishk 

39 Hassan Hussein Karim Kareza Wishk 40 Omar Hama Murad Hassan Kareza Wishk 

41 Sa'id Ahmed Mahmoud Kareza Wishk 42 Salahuddin Hama Amin Qader Dargazin 

43 Aziz Mahmoud Hama Srashqam 44 Mahmoud Hama Sayed Srashqam 

45 Dara Fa'ek Mustafa Kareza Wishk 46 Kamal Mohammed Hussein Dour al-Amen 

47 Aaina Abdullah Karim Dour al-Amen 48 
Hama Hussein Fatehallah 
Mohammed 

Sarchenar 

49 Amin Saleh Abdulrahman Kareza Wishk 50 Kheder Sulayman Qader Kareza Wishk 

51 
Hama Rashid Abdulrahman 
Mahmoud 

Kwiza 52 Othman Ahmed Ali Sarchenar 

53 Ebrahim Mustafa Saleh Zarakta 54 Shamam Baba Mahmoud Zarakta 

55 Ayed Mustafa Saleh Zarakta 56 Fateh Mahmoud Hussein Zarakta 

57 Ainuddin Othman Baba Zarakta 58 Mahmoud Abdullah Mahmoud Zarakta 

59 Hamakhan Ahmed Mohammed Zarakta 60 Aziz Murad Aziz Kaneskan 

 

Unable to check 

Kindly verify the 

complete identity  

1/24/1990 



 
 

 

61 Omar Hamakhan Alikhan  Kareza Wishk 62 Qarwan Kekhusro Fattah  Malkandi 

63 
Nasruddin Najem Mohammed 

Amin 
Kareza Wishk  64 

Shamam Mohammed Hama 

Karim 
Srashqam 

65 Raouf Fattah Faraj  Kareza Wishk 66 Ketan Mohammed Hama Rahim  Zarakta 

67 Amin Mahmoud Kader  Sheikh Muhiddin  68 Esma'il Mohammed Rahman  Sheikh Muhiddin 

69 Hama Faraj Ahmed  Branan  70 Kamel Mahmoud Farhad  Sheikh Muhiddin 

71 Abdullah Hama Sa'id Qader  Sheikh Muhiddin  72 Jalil Dost Hakim  Kareza Wishk 

73 Abdul‐Majid Hussein Wayes  N/A  74 ?????????????????  ??????? 

75 Hakim Hassan Qader  N/A  76 Hasan Kader AbuBaker  N/A 

77 Amin Mohammed Mahmoud  N/A  78 Rasoul Wali ??????  N/A 

79 ???? Saleh Qais  N/A  80 ????????????????  N/A 

81 Ayad Ahmed Karim Wali  N/A  82 Majid Abdullah Hama Wayes  N/A 

83 Jamil Rashid Muhammed  N/A  84 Hama Ali Ahmed Abdul‐Rahman  N/A 

85 Hama Rashid ALi  N/A  86 Aziz Abdullah Hama Wayes  N/A 

87 Ashraf Aziz Abdullah  N/A  88 ????????????????  N/A 

 

 



 



 
 

((In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful)) 

Republic of Iraq 

                             Ministry of Interior 

                          Sulaymaniyah Governorate 

                      Directorate of Internal Affairs 

                       No./23 (...)/898 

                       Date  

 

To / The Arbil Governorate/ Directorate of Internal Affairs 

Subject / Laissez‐Passer 

Along with this memo, we send the families listed in the attached document that starts with the sequence (no. 1 

Uthman Haji Ali and ends with no. 73 Nidham Abdullah Mustafa), with their household furniture, who are from the 

people of our governorate ‐ the cancelled District of Halabja, [for you] to house them in your governorate (the 

Barhoshter Complex). Kindly receive them, take the necessary action, and inform us of the outcome … with 

respect. 

 

                     

      Muhammad Amin Abbo 

                  Acting Governor of Sulaymaniyah 

                    /6/1989 

A copy to// 

‐ The Sulaymaniyah Branch Command of the Arab Socialist Ba'ath party 

‐ The Sulaymaniyah Security Directorate                           

‐ The Sulaymaniyah Police Directorate           

‐ The Mayoralty of the Sulaymaniyah Central District/ Your memo 3693 on 6/26/1989.  

Kindly take the necessary action. 

The aforementioned (                                      ).  

J/ 6/26 

23 Thi al‐Qe'da 1409 Hijri

June 26, 1989 

Kindly review the information. With 

respect. 

 



 



 
 

    ((A List of Names of Halabja Residents)) 

No. Triple Name  No. Triple Name  

1 Uthman Haji Ali  2 Abdul-Qader Haji Ali  

3 Faraj Muhammad Amin  4 Sorah Fattah Qurbani  

5 Narmin Majid Abdoulah  6 Hama Saleh Abdul-Qader Muhammad  

7 Saleh Muhammad Mustafa  8 Ridha Ali Ahmed  

9 Jamal Naeb Muhammad  10 Hama Rashid Mustafa  

11 Hussein Hama Rahim  12 Faeq Hama Amin Faraj  

13 Rahim Muhammad Karim  14 Nouri Ahmed Karim  

15 Gharib Tawfiq Baram  16 Ismail Zourab Abdullah  

17 Fattah Abdul-Rahman Mustafa  18 Younis Abdul-Rahman Mustafa  

19 Omar Hama Amin Karim  20 Sa'ed Gharib Faraj  

21 Mina Abdullah Ahmed  22 Ahmed Gharib Faraj  

23 Omar Aziz Muhammad  24 Khusro Hamed Abdullah  

25 Tawfiq Faraj Amin  26 Sa'ed Ali Ahmed  

27 Muhammad  Muhammad Hama Amin  28 Yassin Ali Hama Amin  

29 Rashad Muhammad Hama Amin  30 Faress Faraj Hama Sharif  

31 Uthman Ali Hama Amin  32 Habib Muhammad Muhammad  

33 Uthman Habib Muhammad  34 Izzat Rustum Hakim  

35 Abdullah Hama Murad Ramadhan  36 Umer Fattah Majid  

37 Hamed Abdullah Muhammad Wayes  38 Taher Babullah Aaref  

39 Salim Muhammad Ali  40 Karim Muhammad Salih Muhammad  

41 Omar Ahmed Qader  42 Izzat Muhammad Salih  

43 Salah Ahmed Muhammad  44 Uthman Rashid Fattah  

45 Saleh Ahmed Muhammad  46 A'esha Muhammad Amin   

47 Hama Sa'ed Rahman Muhammad  48 Ahmed Rashid Hama Amin  

49 Mawloud Kaka Khan  50 Hassan Kaka Khan  

51 Ali Ahmed Hama Amin  52 Ali Ahmed Ali  

53 Uthman Amin Saleh  54 Wahed Homer Suleiman  

55 Fatmah Shukrallah  56 Ali Abdul-Karim  

57 Ibrahim Urhim Urhman  58 Ahmed Muhammad Karim  

59 Tawfiq Abdullah Karim  60 Hama Amin Urhim  

61 Muhammad Urhim Urhman    62 Qader Muhammad Fattah   



 
 

63 Hussein Mir Ahmed    64 Najem Hama Sa'ed Issa   

65 Muhammad Amin Rahim    66 Mahmoud Muhammad Ahmed   

67 Dawoud Mahmoud Muhammad    68 Uthman Abdullah Muhammad   

69 Sarbnaz Hussein Hassan    70 Yar Ahmed Mustafa Khwakaram   

71 Muhammad Mustafa Khwakaram    72 Muhammad Abdul‐Qader Hama Saleh   

73 Nidham Abdullah Mustafa        

 



 



 
 

       In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful 

 

                  Presidency of the Republic 

                    The Secretary 

                        General Directorate of Security 

                 Security Directorate of Sulaymaniyah 

              /SECRET/               No. / ‐‐‐‐‐/ 19313 
           ___________               Date 8/18/1989 
                        17/Muharram/1410 Hijri 

 

      To: The Counter Hostile Activity Committee of the Sulaymaniyah Governorate 

      Subject: Information 

      \\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ 

 

We've received the following information: 

 

The Sulaymaniyah Department of Health has reinstated a number of its employees, who are from 

Halabja families, to their positions according to the executive order issued by the Presidency of the 

Kurdistan Region Executive Council, No. S. R. / 1203 on 6/26/1989, contrary to the instructions from the 

Northern Formation Office that the [employees] from Halabja families must not be returned to their 

jobs [immediately], but after two years. Kindly be acquainted and keep us informed of any further 

related instructions issued… With respect. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

              Director of Sulaymaniyah Security  

                8/17/1989 

 

                 

                   

 

                 

Jassem 2/N/8/17 

 

 

 

 



 



 
 

           In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

(9893/27/8)          Republic of Iraq 

Counter Hostile Activity Committee          No./ 1048 
of the Sulaymaniyah Governorate          Date/ 23/Muharram/ 1409 Hijri 
                             8/24/1989 

 

            To/ The Security Directorate of Sulaymaniyah  

            Subject/ Information 

 

Your memo numbered/ 19313 on 8/18/1989: 

 

Be advised that an order has been issued by higher levels [of government] to return Halabja inhabitants 

to their employment positions … and the employees of the Sulaymaniyah Health Department were also 

reinstated according to the Esteemed Presidential Office memo numbered 23719, on 6/22/1989. 

[Please] kindly review. With respect… 

 

 

 

 

The Establishments 

_________________            Jaafar Abdul‐Kareem al‐Barazanji 

              Chief of the Counter Hostile Activity Committee 
                     of the Sulaymaniyah Governorate 
                        8/24/1989 
 
The Esteemed Mr. Director 
______________ 
[Please] kindly review… with respect. 
 

Security Lieutenant  
Facilities Officer 
8/18/1989         

     
Check if those mentioned above are among the Halabja 
residents who were considered for displacement.  

 



 



 
 

A copy of the memo from the Presidency of the Executive Council of the Kurdistan Region / Mobilization 
#17205 on 9/Rabi al‐Thani/1410 Hijri, concurrent with 11/07/1989. 
___________________________________________________________________________________  
 
The presidential office was approached according to our memo numbered 1630 on 7/26/1989, about 
the possibility of reinstating those who have been considered in the Revolution Command Council's two 
decrees, numbered 736 and 737 in 1988, and to return them to their previous positions and resume 
payments for those that have had their payments suspended, beginning from the date of their joining 
military service. The office responded to us in its memo numbered 38343 on 10/30/1989, with the 
disapproval of their return and the resuming of their payments; kindly review [the memo] and don't 
send their requests to us until further notice… With respect. 
 
            Acting Chief of the Executive Council  
              Hussein Rasheed Muhammad 
              Director of the General Office 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
        In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 
            Republic of Iraq 
        Governorate of Sulaymaniyah          No. 6/1/1/6983 
                 Local Government            Date/11/23/1989 
Directorate of Personnel and Financial Affairs        25/Rabee’ al‐Thani/1410 Hijri   
                       (Personnel) 
 
          To/ The Heads of All Departments 
 
          Subject/ Returning the discharged back to employment 
          ___________________________ 
 
Above is a copy of a memo [from] the president of the Executive Council of the Kurdistan 
Region/Directorate of the General Office/ Mobilization No. 17205, on 9/Rabee’ al‐Thani/ 1410 Hijri, 
concurrent with 11/7/1989, for your review and [to] implement what is stated.  
 
 
 
                  Kaakel Hamad Mawlood 
                  Sulaymaniyah Governor 
                    11/1989 
 
A copy to: 
__________ 
Personnel 
 
 
Ali ‐ Kamal/ 11/21 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

(Our martyrs will remain the noblest ones.)      
 Presidency of the Republic 

           
 

The Secretary 
                General Directorate of Military Intelligence 

 
        Number/ M1/HQ/235350 

Date/ 7 / Jumada / 1410 Hijri 
Concurrent with December 6, 1989 

  
 

SECRET 
____________ 

 
 To/ The Second Adjutancy 

Subject/ Articles 
 

Enclosed are three articles translated by the Military Intelligence School for Officers from the German 
magazine called Stern. 
 
To be kindly reviewed. 
 
Attachments: 
_______________ 
(3) articles 
  

Staff Brigadier General  
First Deputy 

December 5, 1989 
   Q4/12/7 
  
A copy to: 
 
2nd Section: Enclosed are (5) translated articles from the source mentioned above - To be kindly 
reviewed. 
 
12th Section: Enclosed is the translated article from the source mentioned above - To be kindly reviewed. 
 

  
 
Appendices: 
The bulletins' summary  
For Mr. Deputy to review  

(1-1) 
SECRET 

____________ 
  
 

Please refer to the full number 

For enclosures 

22286/12/8 
1614277/12/6 

281/12/1

 

   

December 9 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

 
    Presidency of the Republic 

The Secretary 

             General Directorate of Military Intelligence 

2nd Adjutancy 
 

To/ Mr. Director of the section 
Subject/ Articles 

 
1 - The secret letter of the 1st Adjutancy of our directorate No. 235350 on December 16, 1989 with 
(3) articles attached to it, translated by the Military Intelligence School for Officers from the 
German magazine Stern, which contained the following: 
 

A. The first article carries the title: “The Nuclear Weapons of the Young Man,” which 
includes the following paragraphs: 

 
1. Iraqi aircrafts attack Halabja City with poisonous gas. 

 
2. US intelligence confirmed the Iraqi strike on the city of Halabja, by picking up 

evidence of the wireless communication between the Iraqi pilots. 
 

3. The Turkish government's opinion [is] that the Kurds who escaped to their side 
[of the border] did not suffer any harm from the chemical attack. 

 
4. A review of the Western companies that helped Iraq with the production of the 

poisonous gas. 
 

5. A historical review of the use of chemical weapons around the world. 
 

B. The second article carries the title, “I am Businessman, Not a Soldier.” [It 
includes:] 

1. A review about the global arms dealer number two; the Syrian Monzer al-
Kassar, the mastermind of the terrorist operation “Nargo.” 

 
2. The aforementioned person combines illegal arms dealing [with] drug dealing, 

[in addition to] his terror activities. 
 

3. The aforementioned person's scandal of smuggling weapons into Iran. 
 

4. The relationship between Abu al-Abbas (chief of the military wing of [the] 
Palestine Liberation Organization) with the aforementioned person [Monzer al-
Kassar]. 



 
 

 

 

5. The relationship between Monzer al-Kassar and the chief of [the] Syrian 
Intelligence Agency. 

 
6. The aforementioned person's relationship with France and Iran during the 

month of January 1987, and his mediation [resulting] in the release of the 
French hostages in Beirut. 

 

(1-3) 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

 

 
 

 

C. The third article carries the title, “West German Companies Helped in the Construction of 
Chemical Facilities.” 

1. The investigations of the Criminal Institute for Customs, which belongs to the German 
city of Cologne, about the persistence of the West German companies in producing 
poisonous gas and providing it to Iraq. 

 
2. Penalizing ten of the West German companies after evidence proved their 

involvement in supplying Iraq with raw materials to produce the poisonous gas. 
 

3. [The] CIA's information about the existence of four production lines in [the] Maaqad 
factory in the city of Samarra. 

 
4. A review of the names of the West German companies that supplied Iraq with 

chemical substances. 

2 - Concerning what was mentioned above, I suggest: 

A - Sending a copy of the article mentioned above in paragraph (B) of section (1) to the 
Intelligence Service to highlight this information in their records about the Syrian, (Monzer al-
Kassar). 

B - Sending a copy of the article mentioned above in paragraph (C) of section (1) to the Military 
Industrialization Facilities Security and Protection Office to highlight this information in their 
records. 

 

 

 

(2-3) 

To be sent to 

the Service 

To be sent to 

the office 

 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Kindly review … with your recommendation. 
  
 

 
 
 

       1st Lieutenant Ahmed Mehdi Hussein 
Section 16 - 4th Command 
     December 11, 1989 

 
  
  
  
Mr. Deputy, 
 
Kindly review. I concur with the two suggestions made by the department … [for] your 
recommendation. 
 
With respect... 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(3‐3) 

 

 

 

Deputy Director of Section 16 

December 12, 1989 

 
December 15th 



 



 
 

        Nuclear Weapons of the Young Man 

 

Der Spiegel Magazine ‐ 39 

September 26, 1988 

 

The West was panicked about the Iraqi chemical attack against the Kurds, while the Americans and the 

Soviets were unable to reach an agreement on preventing the use of chemical weapons that are used 

when poor countries run out of missiles. The spread of chemical weapons continues. 

A villager warned [the] people in the town of Halabja about Iraqi aircrafts that drop deadly chemicals. 

This warning came at an earlier time. 

A squad of Iraqi aircrafts bombed the town of Halabja with poisonous gas, [and] that resulted in [the] 

disappearance of people [hiding] in their their homes and caves, [who] feared the shrapnel and debris 

from the bombing, which was marked as unmerciful. The explosions did not leave serious damage 

because most of the bombs were thrown outside [the borders] of the town and on the slopes of the 

mountains. There, the air was saturated with mercury gas and nerve gas, [and] flowed into the town, 

where the residents panicked [and went] to their hideouts, and found themselves with severe burns, 

coughs and nerve spasms. Most of them did not prepare themselves for the escape because the 

chemical strike did not make any noise; that's why it caused the death of [so] many Kurds. Whoever 

managed to dreadfully escape ended up dead. The refugees have confirmed last week that the Kurds in 

Iraq are suffering from vengeful campaigns and bombings, and [are] being victimized by the Arabic ruler 

in Baghdad. Tens of thousands of Kurds have survived and fled to Turkey, the country neighboring Iraq. 

Iraq used chemical weapons during its war with Iran, which lasted eight years, and also against the Kurds, 

who live in northern Iraq, [in the] town of Halabja, a town that was occupied by the enemy in March; 

however, Iraq has denied using chemical weapons.  

U.S. intelligence confirmed the brutal crime with evidence by picking up the wireless communication 

between the Iraqi pilots. 

 

 

 

 

 



 



 
 

Turks allege that the Kurdish refugees, who reached an approximate number of 100,000, did not suffer 

any harm. This allegation cannot be believed because impartial doctors have found people affected by 

the chemical strike, and Turkish doctors have acknowledged diagnosing the gas, but they were under 

pressure from their government to not give [away] any information [about it], and  they were limited to 

only feeding the victims because Ankara didn't want to harm its relations with Iraq. In order to do that, 

the wounded were hidden in military hospitals.  

The Western countries protested the condemnation matter, while [the] USA threatened to impose 

economic sanctions against Iraq; whereas the international condemnation on the usage of the chemical 

weapons became a "hypocrisy," and while the Iraqi army struck the Kurds with chemical weapons, they 

deported the Kurds who survived from that chemical attack. Forty countries around the world, including 

the leading countries, must recognize the expansion of their chemical weaponry. Those were the same 

countries that made [the] decisions in the Geneva Conference, where producing, storing, or using 

chemical weapons was banned. And we notice that the Soviet Union refrains from admitting [to] 

possessing chemical weapons, although [they] came afterward to protest America's demand to conduct 

an intensive inspection on the chemical plants by sending inspectors from forty‐four countries to review 

the arsenals of the Soviet Union. The American demand was refused by the Soviets. 

At the end of August, the American president, Ronald Reagan, approached the head of the NATO 

Disarmament [program]: "[The] United States of America considers it hopeless to complete the treaty 

without the inspection on the manufacturing of chemical weapons."  

[The] U.S. chemical industry opposed the strict inspections because it fears industrial espionage by the 

Soviet Union. [The] American chemical weapons brokers' discomfort was increased by the Iraqi chemical 

warfare administration, because Iraq could easily obtain raw materials and production facilities for 

chemical substances from the global chemical market; therefore, doubts about conducting inspections 

on the manufacturing of chemical weapons were increased when the Belgian company (Petroleum 

Company) sold 500 tons of Altayodelechelol, which contains mercury gas, to Iraq. 



 



 
 

13 

When mixed with hydrochloric acid, which is the main component of the Iraqi arsenal of poisonous 

gases… 

The U.S. Customs [Service] has confiscated seventy‐four barrels containing potassium chloride, which 

[was] found on [a] plane [at] New York’s [John F.] Kennedy Airport at the last minute. The name of the 

claimant for this material is [the country of] Iraq. It is the main chemical material for the toxic substance 

sarin, and every five grams of it [can] fatally poison a cubic meter of air. 

According to information coming from the United States of America, the European producers, including 

Germany, have helped Iraq with facilities to produce nerve gas, insecticides, and sarin. 

[The] prosecutor general of the Federal Republic of Germany has stated that thirteen German 

companies producing chemicals deal with the Middle East. Chemicals are used in two fields; first, in 

agriculture, and second, in producing chemicals that are essential, raw materials for many chemical 

industries. 

[The] Stockholm [International] Peace Institute has produced statistics [claiming] that the number of 

participating countries in the Chemical Weapons Convention totals thirty‐seven countries. 

U.S. intelligence has information saying [that] it is not only Iraq and Iran that possess chemical weapons, 

but also Israel, Egypt, Syria, Libya, North Korea, South Korea, and Taiwan. 

The methods of chemical industry production are complicated due to the possibility of producing toxic 

materials in civilian facilities. 

There is a saying from one of the chemical weapons experts [that goes], "There is no difference between 

the death of insects and the death of human beings." 

Whether [it is for the] primary or secondary [purposes], the modern chemical industry’s production is 

deadly, because both [types of] production can be used [to create] chemical weapons. 



 



 
 

 

The U.S. envoy to Geneva has protested and said, "How can someone inspect for toxins when a [mere] 

gram of them could contaminate [the] water supply of a large city?"  

Industrial sediments are hazardous and debilitating because their final storage creates immense 

problems for the world. If a ship is loaded with toxic waste, it can no longer be used for shipping goods.  

On April 22, 1915, [the] valves on 500 bottles of chlorine gas opened in front of the Belgian port of Pern, 

[and] caused the deaths of 5,000 French soldiers, and twice as many were wounded after the wind 

redirected the gas westward. What [scope of casualty] can a gas attack cause? The number of victims 

dead from the poisonous gas [used] in World War I was [a total of] 90,000. 

[The] Geneva Convention prohibits the use of any means of mass destruction, either in war, internal 

disputes, or in colonies where conflicts occur. 

Iraq was not the first country to violate the sanctity of the treaty; the Spaniards hit the Moroccans with 

chemical substances in 1925, [and] Japan also hit Mongolia. The Italians, led by Mussolini, struck the 

Ethiopians with chemical weapons. After World War II, chemical weapons were not dispensed [entirely], 

as they were used in Vietnam, Yemen,  Angola, Ethiopia, Afghanistan, and Cambodia. The use of 

chemical weapons is still continuing, and wherever there is resistance, there is evidence to prove that. 

Many types of lethal chemicals were developed, and the US has used new technology for manufacturing 

toxic bombs since December 1988. 

[The] Geneva Convention states [that] it is not permissible to use chemical weapons among the well‐

developed [Western] countries; however, Hitler used 12,000 tons of deadly chemicals during his war. 

[Western] countries accepted the [challenge of] racing [the] lethal chemical industry because these 

materials have [a] terrifying effect.  

Iraq was using chemical weapons during the Gulf War, fearing the huge masses of Iranians sweeping its 

international borders, and it is believed that Iraq uses chemical weapons […] 



 



 
 

(5) 

 […] as a last resort against the enemy; it is considered to be a legitimate right of the world's conscience. 

Werkende magazine confirmed [that] Iraq used chemical weapons in the battles that lasted a long time 

during the eight years [of war], especially when a breach occurred in the front lines. Therefore, Iraq's 

usage of chemical weapons against the Iranian Army is one of the reasons for [the] Iranian Army’s 

combat capability degradation in the last year of war. However, Iraq did not mount chemical weapons 

on all [of the] missiles that were used to strike the Iranian cities. 

The expansion of the missile technology in developing countries caused panic in the United States of 

America because the young man's chemical and nuclear weapons might be directed against the 

industrialized nations. Therefore, the global police [i.e. the] U.S. and its naval forces will increase 

training against chemical attacks. 

In the year 1985, experts from nineteen Western countries met in order to reduce the risk by preventing 

the export of basic materials and facilities that produce chemical weapons [to other countries]. Also on 

September 8‐9, 1988 in Rome, representatives of the Group of Seven discussed the possibility of 

preventing the spread of "Know‐How" missiles and the old Soviet missiles that were sold by the Soviet 

Union to many countries in the Middle East, Asia, and Africa. [These missiles] have been developed and 

[have] become more accurate with hitting their targets, and they are available in the arms market. 

China has equipped Saudi Arabia with mid‐range missiles; Brazil has offered the market type "Zonda" 

missiles; India [has] conducted a test‐fire on its "Prithvi" missile; and Israel has launched a satellite on a 

missile that can be equipped with chemical weapons and nuclear materials, with a range of more than a 

thousand kilometers.  

U.S. Secretary of State George Shultz has called [for] the Americans to condemn the disgusting man, "al‐

Gaddafi," who produced chemical weapons, which he used against Chad, with the help of Japan. He also 

received "Condor 2" missiles from Argentina […] 



 



 
 

… jointly developed by Argentina, Egypt, and Iraq—these missiles can carry chemicals whereas Gaddafi 

had [previously] used them against the U.S. fleet in the Mediterranean. 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

 

         Presidency of the Republic 

      The Secretary 

The General Directorate of Military Intelligence 

No.: M2/Sh16/Q4/M 
Date: 12/19/1989 

21 Jamadi al‐Awal 1410 Hijri  
SECRET 

                  
                      243809 

       To / The Military Industrialization Facilities Protection and Security Office 

                 Subject/ A newspaper article 

                            ________________ 

 

Attached is a copy of the article published in the German magazine Der Spiegel on November 16, 1989 

entitled, “W. German Companies Assist in Building Chemical Facilities.”  

Kindly review… with respect. 

 

 

 

 

Attachments 

____________ 

An article with the translation 

 

 

                  Staff Brigadier General 

              Acting Director of General Military Intelligence 

                  December 17, 1989 

 

 

 

 

 

To be filed in the articles dossier 

                 SECRET 

  12/20             

Emad, December 17  

Filing 

 

12/20 

 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

 

                  Presidency of the Republic 

                   The Secretary 

              General Directorate of Military Intelligence 

                  No.: M2./S16/Q4/M 
                  Date: 12/19/1989 
                           21 Jamadal Awal 1410 Hijri 
                     SECRET 
                                 243810 
 
 
        To/ The Revolution Command Council ‐ Intelligence Service 
        Subject/ A newspaper article 
 
Attached is a copy of the article published in the German magazine Der Spiegel on May 1, 1989 entitled, 
“I'm a Businessman, Not a Soldier,” which is related to the international arms dealer no. (2) Monzer al‐
Kassar. 
 
Kindly review … with respect. (Emad, December 17th) 
 
Attachments 
___________ 
 
An article with the translation 
 
 
 
 
 
           
                Staff Brigadier General 
            Acting Director of General Military Intelligence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To be filed in the articles dossier 
               SECRET 
    12/20         

 

To be filed in the 

articles dossier 

 

12/20 

 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

          (SECRET AND PERSONAL)        General Security Directorate 

                    No. 3rd Political Q33 
                    Date / 12 / 13 / 2000 

2nd Political Dpt. 
Subject/ Article 

 
 
We were informed by [the] Sulaymaniyah Security Directorate in its memo no. 3196 on 12/10/2000 [of] 
the following: 
 
On 12/09/2000, [the] betraying guides’ faction channel broadcasted an interview made on [an] Iraqi 
radio [station] in London with the criminal Brigadier General Pilot Jawdat Mustafa al‐Naqib. [The 
interview] states:  
 
‐ When did you enter the Air Force Academy? 
‐ I entered the Air Force Academy in London in 1961, [and served until] 1964. 
 
‐ What was your role in [the] Halabja battles and bombings? 
‐ I was in the operations room, when we were informed [by] the Mobile Corps that Halabja was 
captured by the Iranian forces and the Kurds. Then we received an order from the presidency to strike 
the area with chemical weapons. We sent a reconnaissance aircraft over Halabja, and we found that the 
area was occupied by the Iranian Army and the Kurds. Then orders were issued to strike it using Ilyushin 
aircrafts and [to] strike it with chemicals, so we gave orders to [the] Kirkuk Airbase to send three 
aircrafts to conduct the attack. After that, we sent a reconnaissance aircraft for the purpose of gathering 
images [of the area]. 
 
‐ Is the airbase commander authorized to use chemical weapons in the attacks? 
‐ Not at all. These orders come down from the president’s operations room. 
 
‐ Did you attack the Iranian sites with chemical weapons? 
‐ Yes; we were using the artillery to hit the Iranian sites with chemical weapons. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1‐2) 
 

2nd Political 8050 
         12/14 

6174



 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

TOP SECRET AND URGENT 

 

To/ The Directorate of General Military Intelligence 

Subject/ Information 

 

Kindly provide the information in your possession about retired Brigadier General Pilot Jawdat Mustafa 

al‐Naqib. 

Kindly review and inform us ... with respect. 

 

                 

 

 

 

                Acting Director of General Security 

                       12/16/2000 

 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

Republic of Iraq 

Presidency of the Republic - The Secretary 

General Security Directorate 

 
No./ 2nd political Dpt. / Q52  

                  Date/    /      /   142  Hijri 
             12/17/2000 4400 

 

 



 



 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

TOP SECRET 

 

To/ The General Security Directorate 

Subject/ Brigadier General Pilot Jawdat Mustafa al‐Naqib 

In reference to your urgent and secret memo number/ 2nd Political/ Q52/ 4400 on December 17, 2000, 

the following is the information available at hand on the aforementioned [individual]: 

 

1. Born in 1941 in al‐Ta'mim. 

2. Of Turkmen ethnicity—Muslim. 

3. Ba'athist (Supporter). 

4. Married to Mrs. Fawziya Salmdan Dawood. 

5. Sent into retirement as a redundant according to the presidential decree 748, [issued] on July 14, 

1988. 

6. We have received the following information about him: 

 

A. In 1966, he carried the rank of 1st lieutenant when the Investigative Commission in Mosul was 

ordered to detain him, and [to] prevent him from any [outside] contact. 

B. When he was carrying the rank of a major, [some] information said that he was [politically] 

independent, religious, [a] racist, and had contact with the Turkish consulate. While he carried 

the rank of a lieutenant colonel, he was [a] racist, [an] opportunist, was not a supporter of the 

revolutionary plan, and did not wish to belong to the ranks of the party, [all the] while having 

Torani‐oriented ideas. 

C. In 1981, information from the military office said that he was considered [to] have [a] lack of 

fortitude during the war [that took place] in October 1973. 

D. Since 1982, his brothers Muhammad, Faydhullah, Zaydoun, and Shahin have been residing in the 

U.S., and in 1984, his cousin, Taher Abdul‐Qader, who fled to Turkey [a] long time ago, was 

believed to be working for Turkish Intelligence. 

E. The aforementioned [individual] is the brother of Lieutenant General Pilot Najdat Mustafa 
Muhammad, who is associated with the Veterans Agency. 

 
            (1‐2) 

              TOP SECRET 

 

 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

Republic of Iraq 

         Presidency of the Republic 

General Directorate of Military 
Intelligence 

 
No./ 8th / 45 / 3 / 
Date 12/26/2000 

                       Date/12/26/2000 
   88592                      

9232 
12/31 
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 4  
12/31 62312 

31/12 

2nd Political Dpt. 
        12/31 

“Keep an eye on your enemy, precede him, 

and never let him get behind you.” 

Commanding President Saddam Hussein 

88592



 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

TOP SECRET 

7. Information gathered from the field showed that he sold his house in 1997 and moved to an unknown 

location. 

 

8. [He] previously resided in Baghdad/ [in the] al‐A’amiriya neighborhood/ quarter no. 632/ alley no. 1/ 

house no. 6/ Tel. no. (5553649). 

 

Kindly review and inform us of the reasons for this request ... with respect.   

 

 

 

 

Q52 
To take the necessary action 
The Director 

    12/31                Staff Major General 

              Acting Director of General Military Intelligence 

                       December 25, 2000 

 

 

 

(2‐2) 

          TOP SECRET            Doc. Seq.               

(A.B.C) 

 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

Requesting the available information 
in the area where he resided. 
       1/03 

Republic of Iraq 

 Presidency of the Republic 

General Directorate of Military Intelligence 

 

 

 



 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOP SECRET 

 

July 17th Security Adjutancy 

Subject/ Information 

 

Kindly provide us with your detailed information about the fugitive Jawdat Mustafa Muhammad al‐

Naqib, as information indicates that he resides in the al‐A’amiriya neighborhood/ quarter no. 632/ alley 

no. 1/ house no. 6/ Tel no. (5553649). 

Kindly review and inform us ... with respect. 

 

 

  

                  Brigadier General Security 

                       Director of the 2nd Political DPT. 

                         1/02/2001 

A copy to: 

The Baghdad Security Directorate ‐ al‐Karkh 

The Al‐Mansour Security Directorate  

 

To be reported to the 3rd Adjutancy 

 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

Republic of Iraq 

Presidency of the Republic - The Secretary 

General Security Directorate 

 
  No./M 2nd P/ Q52/ 20 

        Date/     /      /  142 Hijri 
                 1/02/2001 

To be kindly informed ... with respect. 

 

 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

             

            SECRET             General Security Directorate 

              281 No./M. 2nd P/Q52  

                               Date/ 2/01/2001 

Bilat al‐Shuhada'a Adjutancy 

Subject/ Information 

Kindly provide us with your detailed information about the fugitive, Jawdat Mustafa Muhammad al‐

Naqib, who resides in the al‐Khawarnaq neighborhood/ quarter no. 842/ alley no. 36/ house no. 1 / Tel 

no. (7751378). 

Kindly review and inform us … with respect. 

 

 

 

 

                Brigadier General Security 

                       Director of the 2nd Political DPT 

                         2/01/2001 

A copy to: 

The Baghdad Security Directorate ‐ al‐Karkh 

The Al‐Baya'a Security Directorate  

           

 

To be kindly informed … with respect. 

 



 



 
 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

                  General Security Directorate 

                  SECRET                 2506 No./ D. 2nd P /Q52/ 

                        Date/ 2/25/2001 

3rd Political Directorate 

          Subject/ Information 
          _________________ 
 
In reference to your memo number 6174 on 12/13/2000:  
 
1‐ We did not obtain any information about Brigadier General Pilot Jawdat Mustafa Mohammed al‐

Naqib. 

 

2‐ [The] information available at the General Directorate of Military Intelligence indicates the following:  

 

A) Born in 1941 in the governorate of al‐Ta'mim of Turkmen ethnicity. [He was] Ba'athist to the degree 

of being a supporter [and is] married to Fawziya Salman Dawood. 

B) In the year 1981, information came from the Military Office that he was considered to have [a] lack of 

fortitude during the war [that took place in] October 1973. 

C) His brothers Muhammad, Faydhullah, Zaydoun, and Thabet are residing in the U.S. and in 1984, it was 

stated that his cousin, Taher Abdul‐Qader, fled to Turkey [a] long time ago. It is believed that he works 

for Turkish Intelligence. 

D) The person under discussion is the brother of Lieutenant General Pilot Najdat Mustafa Muhammad, 

who is associated with the Veterans Agency. 

E) He was sent into retirement according to the presidential decree no. 748, issued on July 14, 1988 as [a] 

redundant.  

F) Field intelligence showed that he sold his house in 1997 and moved to an unknown location. 

G) [He] previously resided in Baghdad/ al‐A’amiriya neighborhood/ Quarter no. 632/ alley no. 1/ house 

no. 6/ Tel. no. (5553649). 

 

Kindly review… with respect. 

 

                 
 

            Director of the 2nd Political DPT.  

2/24/2001 

 

 



 



 
 

1811              2nd Squad 

The alleged Voice of al‐Iraq al‐Hurr from (Prague) 1800        SIGINT 6th Squad  

                    8/28/2001 

 

‐ Here we listen to the views of an Iraqi military expert and a representative of one of the Iraqi 

opposition groups. First, Brigadier General Pilot Jawdat Mustafa al‐Naqib asked if the U.S. plane crash 

could result in any effects on the consistency of the American‐British flyovers in the no‐fly zone in 

northern and southern Iraq.  

‐ Jawdat al‐Naqib: Actually, I expect that this incident will greatly influence the path of both zones. 

‐ The broadcaster: How does this reflect its own effect?  



 



 
 

2) 

‐ Jawdat al‐Naqib: Definitely. In general, I expect that the Americans are testing the waters of the Iraqi 

air defenses. 

‐ In this case, America became certain that the Iraqi air defenses are a danger to the Western aircrafts. 

‐ Jawdat al‐Naqib: Yes, they were dangerous, and they have become dangerous to the American and 

British aircrafts. 

‐ The broadcaster: Do you expect a wide‐range U.S. strike? 

‐ Jawdat al‐Naqib: They will definitely respond. You know that when Americans lose something, they 

always retaliate. 

 

 

Q52            Q52 

Your review from Jawdat Mustafa al‐Naqib.    In his folder       Action to be taken (....) 

    9/01                9/02       9/03 



 



 
 

           

 

          Al‐Jihad Security Adjutancy 

          Subject/ Information 

Kindly conduct a secret investigation and [provide an] information report about the so‐called Yaqthan 

Munshid Nayef al‐Jaryan, about whom our information indicates the following: 

1‐ Born in 1957 ‐ Babel. 

2‐ In the year 1984, he was a reserve officer, when he was captured by the Iranian enemy and returned 

to our homeland in the year 1990. 

3‐ Discharged from the army in the year 1990. 

4‐ He lives in Baghdad/[in the] al‐Jihad neighborhood/ quarter no. 873/ alley no. 29/ house no. 19. 

Kindly review and urgently inform us to respond to the requesting authority... with respect. 

 

 

                 

Brigadier General Security 

                Director of the 2nd Political DPT. 

                     3 /16/2002 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

General Security Directorate 

689 No.  / M - 2nd Political - Q52  
        Date   3/16 /2002 



 



 

 

 

 

 

(A precept by the commanding president Saddam Hussein) 

 

 

Inquiry/ Office ‐ 2nd Political ‐ Q52  

Subject/ Information 

 

In reference to your memo number 689 on 3/16/2002: 

We are unable to take the action regarding the so‐called Yaqthan Munshid Nayef al‐Jaryan because he 

does not live at the address: Quarter no. 873/ alley no. 29/ house no. 19. This address is occupied by 

Jabouri Ibrahim Abdul‐Bari al‐Duleimi, and attached is the mukhtar's notice. 

With respect. 

 

Attachments 
___________ 
The mukhtar's notice             Baghdad Security Directorate/ al‐Karkh 

                Baya'a Security Directorate 

                al‐Jihad Security Adjutancy 

                No./  3/24/ 2002 

                Date    /       / 1999 

Q52  

To take action              N Dhya' 

                Review and respond 
                      3/27 
 
        The Director 
           3/26 

 

"Do not make your enemy covet 
in your remission, [and] neither 
your friend despair of it." 

In the name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

Republic of Iraq 

Presidency of the Republic - The Secretary 

General Security Directorate 

 
No./ Adjutancy of al-Jihad Security  

        Date/   /  1166 / 142 Hijri 
                 3/24/2002 

2nd P    1091/3/26 

 

 

 



 



 

 

 

 

(A precept by Commanding President Saddam Hussein) 

 

 

 

TOP SECRET 

To/ The General Directorate of Military Intelligence  

Subject/ Information 

In reference to your letter number M8/43/4/13602 on 3/5/2002: 

1‐ No information was found in our records concerning the two collaborators mentioned in the topic of 

your previous letter. 

2‐ On 2/9/2000, the betraying guides’ faction channel interviewed the collaborator Jawdat Mustafa al‐

Naqib, during which he gave his autobiography and [talked about] the places where he worked, 

information on the attack on Halabja with chemical weapons, and [the] Iranian sites during the battle of 

Saddam's glorified Qadisiyah. 

Kindly review … with respect. 

 

 

 

Acting\ Directorate of General Security 

                  4/7/2002 

 

 

 

1 ‐ 1 

 

Keep an eye on your enemy; 
precede him, and never let 
him get behind your back. 

In the Name of God, the Most Gracious, and Most Merciful 

Republic of Iraq 

Presidency of the Republic - The Secretary 

General Security Directorate 

No./ PO. Q52/947 

Date/    /  / 142   Hijri 

          4   /   7   / 2002 

 



 



 
 

Iraqi High Tribunal 

Investigation Judges/ Sulaymaniyah Office 

 

Number: 84 

Date: 3/23/2006 

 

To\ The Center of Halabja Against Anfalazation and Genocide of Kurds 

Halabja Center - CHAK 

Mr. Honorable Ali Mahmoud, 

Greetings and respect. 

It is well-known to our court your tremendous efforts, and those of your center to bring the Dutch 
businessman (Frans van Anraat) to Dutch justice, because of his involvement in the crimes [that] 
occurred during the Iraq-Iran War, and his role in providing raw materials for the production of chemical 
weapons to the former Iraqi regime. This case has a positive reflection on the ongoing investigation 
conducted by us about the use of chemical weapons against the people residing in Halabja and its 
suburbs. 

In this respect, the report prepared by the Belgian scientist Dr. Abuin Heyndrickx regarding the 
aforementioned crime might become an important document, and since it is currently impossible to 
contact him, I request that Mr. Honorable Ali Mahmoud contact Mr. Hendrix, and give [him] our best 
greetings and wishes, and ask him to provide us with a copy of his report prepared in 1988. We also 
request [that you] find the best possible way to contact him, whether or not he intends to testify in front of 
our court regarding the aforementioned crime, and about what he saw and mentioned in his report. 

With our regards to Mr. Ali Mahmoud and the Halabja Center, 

 

 

        

        Judge 

Kaamel Abdul-Karim Rahim 

Chief of the Investigation Committee in the Halabja case 

 

Iraqi Special Tribunal 

Email: hictinsulaimaniya@yahoo.com 



 



 
 

 

 

 

The Halabja Case 

Written documents and evidence  

submitted to the court 

 



 



 
 

Halabja Records 

(The event: The genocide of the Kurdish town of Halabja and the strike with chemical weapons.) 

On Friday 3/16/1988 and the following days. 

The administration location: 

Iraq ‐ Kurdistan Region ‐ Sulaymaniyah ‐ It borders the towns of (Khormal subdistrict), (Byara), (Sirwan), 

and (Sayed Sadeq) prior to [it] becoming a district. 

Date of establishment: 

It was built in the 1700s under the period of Ottoman rule, [and] then [was] promoted to a district 

center belonging to the Governorate of Sulaymaniyah  in 1889. 

Population: 

76,000 people in the town and outskirts in 1988. 

Executors of the attack: 

The Iraqi Air Force, the 1st Corps, the General [Directorate of] Military Intelligence, [the] Eastern Military 

Intelligence Office, the North Formation Office, which belongs to the General Command of the Iraqi 

Armed Forces under the leadership of the executed (Saddam Hussein), and under the supervision of the 

executed (Ali Hassan al‐Majid) Director of the North Formation Office, the convicted (Sultan Hashem) 

Commander of the 1st Corps, the convicted Director General of the General [Directorate of] Military 

Intelligence (Saber Abdul‐Aziz al‐Douri), the convicted Director of the Eastern Intelligence Office (Farhan 

Mutlaq al‐Jobouri), and the fugitive Pilot (Tareq Ramadhan Bakr al‐Azzawi) who is currently in Britain. 

Participants and executors against whom legal actions were not brought: 

1‐ Jafar Abdul‐Kareem al‐Barazanji, Sulaymaniyah Former Governor‐ Fugitive. 

2‐ Nizar al‐Khazraji, Chief of Staff of the Iraqi Army – [A] fugitive, living in the United Arab Emirates.    



 



 
 

Complainants and witnesses: 

During the investigation process: 

[A total of] 312 complainants and witnesses have participated in presenting their testimonies to the 

tribunal since the beginning of 2005 through 2007, and their statements were recurrent about the crime 

of the chemical attack, forced displacement, and forced disappearance, so it left no room for doubt in 

proving the conclusive evidence for remittance.   

During the trial process: 

A group of witnesses were added to the total of witnesses that came voluntarily to assist the court and 

the justice, including five Europeans who were working as journalists. They filmed the disaster for 

international TV channels when it occurred. 

The protected witnesses: 

Three witnesses, protected by the court, participated in the trial process because they belonged to the 

Iraq Air Force, as they asserted to the court that the Iraqi Air Force and military troops attacked the 

town of Halabja with chemical weapons, which have completely changed the course of the trial toward 

convicting and sentencing the four accused [defendants]. 

The list of the evidence obtained in the Halabja case: 

1. Complainants' recurrent statements. 

2. Complainants' clear and recurrent testimonies. 

3. CDs [containing] photos of the disaster. 

4. CDs [containing] live images of the disaster captured at the time it occurred by the Turkish, 

Iranian, and European Press.  

5. Death certificates that belong to the martyrs of Halabja. 

6. The court inspected the scene on 6/1/2009, and reviewed the locations of the mass graves and 

chemical bomb spots. 

7. Confessions of the four accused [defendants] during the course of the trial, which are recorded 

in the case's documents. 

8. Written evidence issued by the intelligence and security services of the former Iraqi regime left 

no room for doubt in proving that all of Iraq's institutions attacked the town of Halabja with 

chemical weapons, and attempted to eradicate the Kurdish people by forcibly displacing and 

hiding them.  



 



** The term “good” is a government classification of trust for informants. 
 

3 ‐ During the course of the trial, it was proven [that] all [of the] commanders and pilots from the 

(Balad), (Hurriya), and (Mosul) airbases had direct involvement in exterminating Halabja with 

chemical weapons. 

4 ‐ The so‐called (Rashid Khidhir Bahri), who is accredited by Eastern Intelligence with a degree of 

(good**), is a fugitive. 

5 ‐ The so‐called (Uthman Abdullah) who is accredited by Eastern Intelligence with a degree of 

(good**), is a fugitive. 

6 ‐ Hundreds of Iraqi Army, Intelligence, Security, and Air Force affiliates. 

Name of the Court: (Iraqi High Tribunal). 

1 ‐ [The] Investigative Committee’s documents total 3,050 pages. 

2 ‐ [The] Second Criminal Committee, headed by Judge (Muhammad al‐Ureibi), [and] then by Judge 

(Abboud Mustafa al‐Hamami). 

The court has sentenced the convicted (Ali Hassan al‐Majid) to death for premeditated murder, and 

(Sultan Hashem Ahmed), (Saber al‐Douri), and (Farhan al‐Jobouri) to seven years in prison for the 

crime of (the forced displacement of the civilian Kurds of Halabja). [It] sentenced (Ali Hassan al‐

Majid), (Saber al‐Douri), and (Sultan Hashem Ahmed) to fifteen years in prison for the crime of 

(forcably hiding the civilian Kurds of Halabja), and [also] sentenced (Farhan Mutlaq al‐Jobouri) to ten 

years in prison for the same crime. 

Days of the trial: 

1 ‐ The trial began on 12/21/2008. The Second Criminal Court announced the verdict on 1/17/2010, 

and classified the crime as ([a crime] against humanity). The trial lasted for 34 public hearings. 

2 ‐ On 2/28/2010, the Supreme Cassation Committee of the Court ratified the conviction, but it 

changed the legal description of the crime to a “crime of genocide against the Kurdish people.”   

 

 



 



 
 

1 - Summary:  

The United Nation's report on the chemical strike 

 

  

2 - Summary: 

Lab results for the type of gases used in the chemical strike on 

the city of Halabja from the eyewitness Professor Gerhard Freilinger. 

 

 

 

The Judge 

1/22/2007 
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